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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERRE

On behalf of the board of directors of China Infrastructure Investment
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the final results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$56,935,000 as compared with approximately
HK$56,182,000 in 2018. The loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately
HK$28,909,000, compared with the loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$20,088,000 over the corresponding
period of 2018.

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in A RZEME
BEZBRAF (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project is a
composite complex comprising two towers of commercial space and
service apartments. The commercial space tower is a six-storey tower
with a gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres and the service
apartments tower is an 18-storey tower with a gross floor area of
20,882.52 square metres. The total gross floor area of the Jiangning
Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which includes a
basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and land use
rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

As at 31 December 2019, approximately 1,600 square meters of
the gross floor area of the commercial building have been sold.
Approximately 19,600 square meters of the gross floor area of the
commercial building has been rented out. Approximately 20,100
square meters of the gross floor area of the service apartment have
been sold.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will provide
the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the consideration
which can generate stable revenue streams and cash surplus for the
Group. On 15 May 2019, the guarantors of the subscription agreement
had fulfilled their obligations regarding the return undertaking and
compensated the shortfall of the profit guarantee for the year ended 31
December 2018, being HK$36,000,000, to the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics”)
is principally engaged in the business of property rentals and operation
of storage units. Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics owns a property with a land
use area of 11,331.30 square metres, comprising of one building with
one storey of 704.16 square metres and another building with four storeys
of 10,807.91 square metres at Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The property is located in the
Tianjin Harbour, which is one of the main transportation hubs of the PRC.
The Company is of the view that the acquisition allows the Group to invest
in a property located within a promising district. It is believed that the
acquisition will provide a steady rental income stream to the Group amid
the current low interest rate environment as well as appreciation potential
of the value of the property owned by Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics.

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd. (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”) is
principally engaged in the business of property rentals and property
development. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is the legal owner of the land use
right for a parcel of land with an area of approximately 29,012.72
square metres located at Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The land is now for
industrial use and having two 4-storey buildings (namely Block Nos.
3 and 4) with a total gross floor area of 18,333 square metres under
construction. Whilst the construction work for the other 2 buildings
(namely Block Nos. 1 and 2) with a total gross floor area of 46,445
square metres was yet to commence. With the fast development of
the Tianjin’s logistics industry as well as the business and commercial
sector, the directors of the Company anticipate the land would have
greater development potential along with the economic growth of
Tianjin.

PROSPECTS

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group
in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable risk
profile of the Group and expected return will be considered. As a
result, the Group will strive to identify suitable projects with potential
for development and satisfactory returns across various sectors in the
PRC market.

XU Xiao Jun
Chairman

13 May 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERWED T

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
PRC PROJECTS

Properties development and investment

Forward Investment (PRC] Company Limited

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in FRZFME
R EEZAR AT (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project is a
composite complex comprising two towers of commercial space and
service apartments. The commercial space tower is a six-storey tower
with a gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres and the service
apartments tower is an 18-storey tower with a gross floor area of
20,882.52 square metres. The total gross floor area of the Jiangning
Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which includes a
basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and land use
rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

As at 31 December 2019, approximately 1,600 square meters of
the gross floor area of the commercial building have been sold.
Approximately 19,600 square meters of the gross floor area of the
commercial building has been rented out. Approximately 20,100
square meters of the gross floor area of the service apartment have
been sold.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will provide
the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the consideration
which can generate stable revenue streams and cash surplus for the
Group. On 15 May 2019, the guarantors of the subscription agreement
had fulfilled their obligations regarding the return undertaking and
compensated the shortfall of the profit guarantee for the year ended 31
December 2018, being HK$36,000,000, to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEE N DT

Properties investment

KEGEYRERA A (Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company
Limited*)

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics”)
is principally engaged in the business of property rentals and operation
of storage units. Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics owns a property with a land
use area of 11,331.30 square metres, comprising of one building with
one storey of 704.16 square metres and another building with four storeys
of 10,807.91 square metres at Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The property is located in the
Tianjin Harbour, which is one of the main transportation hubs of the PRC.
The Company is of the view that the acquisition allows the Group to invest
in a property located within a promising district. It is believed that the
acquisition will provide a steady rental income stream to the Group amid
the current low interest rate environment as well as appreciation potential
of the value of the property owned by Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics.

KEELFEHREERAT (Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power
Equipment Co. Ltd.*)

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd. (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”) is
principally engaged in the business of property rentals and property
development. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is the legal owner of the land use
right for a parcel of land with an area of approximately 29,012.72
square metres located at Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The land is now for
industrial use and having two 4-storey buildings (namely Block Nos.
3 and 4) with a total gross floor area of 18,333 square metres under
construction. Whilst the construction work for the other 2 buildings
(namely Block Nos. 1 and 2) with a total gross floor area of 46,445
square metres was yet to commence. With the fast development of
the Tianjin’s logistics industry as well as the business and commercial
sector, the directors of the Company anticipate the land would have
greater development potential along with the economic growth of
Tianjin.

*

For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PR e

OUTLOOK

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group
in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable risk
profile of the Group and expected return will be considered. As a
result, the Group will strive to identify suitable projects with potential
for development and satisfactory returns across various sectors in the
PRC market.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of approximately 26
staff in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates employees
based on their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practices so as to retain the competent and talented employees.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$56,935,000, as compared with approximately
HK$56,182,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018. The loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$28,909,000 as compared
with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$20,088,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debt (which included
borrowings), cash and bank balances, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves of the Group.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to medium
term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s borrowings when
appropriate. At 31 December 2019, the underlying current ratio,
defined as current assets over current liabilities, was approximately
1.87 (2018: 2.26). At 31 December 2019, the underlying gearing
ratio, defined as the total borrowings over total equity (including non-
controlling interests), was approximately 16% (2018: 27%) while the
current liabilities to the total assets ratio was approximately 21% (2018:
25%).

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s equity attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately HK$732,376,000 a decrease of
approximately 6.3% over last year end which was approximately
HK$781,480,000. The net current assets at 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$192,475,000 (2018: HK$356,514,000) while
cash and bank balances at 31 December 2019 was approximately
HK$2,024,000 (2018: HK$553,114,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain properties of a subsidiary were pledged in favour of a PRC
trust company to secure the payment obligation of an independent
third party in the sum of approximately HK$89,400,000 (equivalent
to RMB80,000,000) granted by the PRC trust company in favour
of the independent third party. As at 31 December 2019, the
outstanding loan amount of the independent third party was
approximately HK$89,400,000 (equivalent to RMB80,000,000) and
the carrying amount of the pledged properties was approximately
HK$119,962,000.

The Group had no other material contingent liabilities.
CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2019, property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$119,962,000 (2018: HK$122,227,000) was
pledged as securities for payment obligation of an independent third
party.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB REED AT

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars,
Renminbi and United Stated Dollars. The Group had no material
foreign exchange exposure risks during the year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DEERRE

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the Management of the
Company are committed to the principles of corporate governance
and to maximise shareholders’ value. These principles and objectives
enhance the transparency, accountability and independence of the
Company and its ability to attract investment and protect rights of
shareholders. The Company continues to review the effectiveness
of corporate structure so as to improve its corporate governance
practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate governance
practices which incorporates all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Directors confirm that,
throughout the financial year, the Company complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code except for the following deviations:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. Xu Xiao Jun,
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, had also been appointed
as the Chairman of the Company since 31 July 2017. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and is adequately ensured by current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The term of office for non-executive Directors including
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is not specific.
It is provided in the Company’s articles of association that all the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the annual general meetings of the Company and are
eligible for re-appointment. The Directors are of the view that such
provision in the Company'’s articles of association has been able to
safeguard corporate governance.
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Corporate Governance Report
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct governing directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules throughout the financial year. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and is accountable for the manner in which the
affairs of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. The
Directors are collectively responsible for the success of the Company.
The Board, as at 31 December 2019, comprised:

(a) three executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Ye De Chao and Mr. Ji Xu
Dong; and

(b) three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. He Jin
Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang and one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and
related financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Company considers that the Board has a range of the necessary
skills and experiences for discharging their duties. All Directors have
been kept informed of major changes on a timely basis that may
affect the Company’s business.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

The Directors may, in appropriate circumstances, take independent
professional advice from external consultants including counsels, at
the Company’s expense. During the year under review, counsels were
engaged to provide the Board with advice on legal matters.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives of the
Company, make decisions on strategic plans and budgets, monitor
the performance of the Senior Management, determine and review
the strategy of the Company, oversee the Company’s compliance
with statutory and regulatory requirement and to ensure that there is a
sound system of internal control and risk management with a goal of
protecting the interests of all shareholders.

Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular and non-
regular board meetings were given to all of the Directors so that full
attendance could be attained and timely information was provided so
that informed decisions could be made. The Board conducts meeting
on a regular and ad hoc basis, as required by business needs.

The Board held totally 4 board meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of Board Meetings (1 January 2019 -
31 December 2019)

4

EEEg

EFEQTHRTER  FESEARFZE
12 AR EI RABFLRE - BEES
REEEBZRA BINBEZARBZR
B BERARNRBTEEREEREZS
o ARFERASEAGRE 2 AEREE R
RBREIEFL - AMRIE R AR

=3
E>3

PREECHEMNEHNEETSSRER
RAZBANGER  NERSEFHELE
ZEGELAEMBEEBREMNBERLT
EHABERE - EESEHETERNESR

EBFERBITENEE -

RAMBERERN  EFTGHBITI4RESS
% MERES 2 HFERREMT

EXEeBcHER® (- AF-A—
RE-Z-h&E+=ZA=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HER
Number of board meetings EEEEELIH 4
Directors EE
Executive Directors HITEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and WNME (EEFTBAEE) 4/4 100%
Chief Executive Officer)
YE De Chao XiEia 4/4 100%
JI Xu Dong ZER 4/4 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors HINTEE
HE Jin Geng fAr& Bk 4/4 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l 4/4 100%
CHEN Yang l59E3 4/4 100%
FEERREGRAT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed at least three independent non-executive
directors and one of whom must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. As at 31 December 2019, the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company (the “INEDs”) represented at least one-third
of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is aware of other commitments of the INEDs and is
satisfied that these do not conflict with their duties as the Directors
of the Company. The Company has received from each of the INEDs
an annual confirmation of his independence as required under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company
considers that each of the INEDs is independent.

The terms and conditions of appointing the INEDs are available for
inspection at the Company'’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction package
covering the Group’s business and the statutory regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory
requirements.

Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code requires that all Directors
of the Company should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the year under review, all Directors of the Company
participated in continuous professional development programmes
and provided a record of training they received to the Company.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

BMIFBITES

AEA EmRABNIE3.10(1) & 3.10(2) 1§ - &
RRIEEAEL=ZRZBUIRNTES  BE
P—ZBEBEE 2 EXERLEETIME
BB ERER - BTE EMHRIZE3.10A
g RZZE—HE+-A=+—8  £x27
ZRENIENTES ([BULIERTES] (R
EZEREBABEL=DZ— -

EFEQNBBEFATES 2EMELT - I
EMZERETERSEEARREZTZHME
WHEEFR - ARRERERBILIFNTES
SLELE MEARIR ET AR RIS B3R E E
ZEEERE - REZFTHERE  AR7R
REBILIFFPTESHRBIAL -

REBUIFITES 2R RGN AR A]
Z MR A &R o

ESZHESRER

UM ZEEFIRER—DABRER &
ERNKERGUARMERS LT ARESHDEE
REEHRE LMARTEEZER  HER
HEEEMARE B REE  REXD
THRERETHRAIRBBEESRTE N 2BE
KREME -

RERSTAISTRMEABSHRE * AR
PIEEFRYR2EFEREER  ERIE
FEAE SRR - AREREEETE R EEE
BAEAMENBERATHESZSFELR
Bl REBEFERN - ARRMBEFHESR
HBFEERERRIE  WARQRRRES
P IR H)| eV ECER o



Corporate Governance Report

AL b s/
fi= E/E#&%

The individual training record of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out below.

(ZE_T-NFHA=+—RHILEFE &
EEMERIEIFCERIIFT

Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BESERRRABER
Executive Directors HiTEF
XU Xiao Jun wME A B
YE De Chao EShE Yl A B
JI Xu Dong ESIEES B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
HE Jin Geng A Bk B
YU Hong Gao B4 B
CHEN Yang BR¥ B

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and updates relating to
the latest development of the Listing Rules, other applicable regulatory
requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities

A HEBERHAWE R R TE

B: HEBMLMMA  HUBEREERENM
EERBLRATZEFTERORT - &
A FETE MR EE AR

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Since 31 July 2017, Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, the Chief Executive Officer,
was also appointed as the Chairman of the Company. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and is adequately ensured by current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.

EERITHAR

EEEETRINSTARXA2AREERE K
TREE AERAMED R TEAR—A
THRAE - TREETRARNBERP®EE D
WIAEEH AR e

B-Z—+tFtA=1T—"HE  THEHF
NMEFEERKERERARRLE -EFE
RABHE—ATEEEFERITRERFHR
REAEEABAENER B - LIRE
SEERRERIANEERINERET - E

ERRER RN MREFESTE
XRHIS MENEIRTESTS (AHER
YEARSEENALTEK  WABRHEAR
HIBI JFITES) MFEDIRRE

FEERREGRAT
—E-NEFER

15



16

Corporate Governance Report

AL £t s/
fi= E/E#&%

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board, headed by the Chairman, reserves for its decision all
major matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board regularly reviews and ensures that
corporate governance principles are in place and at good standard.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of no
less compliance requirements than those set out in the CG Code
of the Listing Rules, namely, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee, Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.
To further reinforce independence, these four committees are
structured to include a majority of independent non-executive
Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2019, the Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Yu Hong Gao, an independent non-executive Director with
other committee members comprising two other independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He Jin Geng and Ms. Chen
Yang and one executive Director, namely Mr. XU Xiao Jun. The
Remuneration Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors that brings an independent and objective view
to the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and Senior
Management of the Company to provide a significant degree of
protection to the shareholders. No director involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors and the Senior Management,
including discretionary bonus, which were based on individual
performance, skill and knowledge, involvement in the Group’s affairs
and performance and profitability of the Group.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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The Remuneration Committee determines the specific remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and Senior Management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments; and makes recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are described in the terms of reference
adopted. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are shown on
pages 115 to 116 of this annual report. The Remuneration Committee
had met once during the financial year and the attendance of
individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Remuneration Committee Meeting
(1 January 2019 — 31 December 2019)

YNEESETENTEE RSN EIRE
MR ESMEE (BIEFESEMNE  BRKe
BFNEESRE)  URRIIENTEENF
rRESEgiRLES: - FWEES2EAH
MR Z BAESEAN - EEHIFIEH
RARERFII5E 116 H - FHES EHNA
BIREERRITT —Re#  EApKEzH
FERCEREH T o

FHEZESS SR HETH (Z2-—NF—
A—BREZZ-hE+=-A=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HEE
Number of remuneration FHEERSERE
committee meeting 1
Members %8
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
YU Hong Gao (Chairman) Balm () 1/1 100%
HE Jin Geng fAr& Bk 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang B 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
XU Xiao Jun wME 1/1 100%
= = =
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REEES

As at 31 December 2019, the members of the Nomination Committee
included three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He
Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang with Mr. Xu Xiao Jun,
an executive Director, as the Committee Chairman.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board for its approval on the appointment of the Directors,
evaluation of board composition and the management of board
succession with reference to various aspects as well as factors
concerning board diversity as set out in the Company’s board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship including the
consideration of referrals and engagement of external recruitment
professionals when necessary. The Chairman of the Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the person responsible for human
resources and the secretary of the Nomination Committee, should
be primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Nomination Committee meeting. Potential candidates are
then considered at the Nomination Committee meetings based on
their experience, professional qualifications, independence and
their expected remuneration packages to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve board diversity, where appropriate, before
making recommendation to the Board. The Nomination Committee
held two meetings during the financial year and the attendance of
individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Nomination Committee Meetings (1 January
2019 — 31 December 2019)

REZESETHEREBEFTAEZE
FFr BREEREBAZREARERZE
SNRIBIRES - RBRERBEGETRAAEAN
BRZABMRRZEGWESZABRRE
IBRERVLNEBRRERZES®RLZ
@iz Hig o SNERREZESEF LA
EZSRHEHANBRBEEEREAZEL
B EEER BN E TR H
FRHEMBEEREAMELER  UKAad
ERBLEHEFEE ST (MER) - =’
ZEENAMBFERNRITTMAGE - @
RIRK B 2 HECHEHN T X -

REZEESEECHERR (ZE—NE—
BA—RZE=-ZE—-hA&E+=-A=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
R E HER
Number of nomination REZESERRH
committee meetings 1
Members o4
Independent Non-executive Directors HUINTTEE
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao Bl = 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang 9E3 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) wNME () 1/1 100%

The Nomination Committee completed the following work in 2019:

(1) Reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board;

(2) Made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
directors retiring at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 21 June 2019; and

(3) Assessed the independence of all the independent non-
executive directors of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial reports,
internal controls and corporate governance issues, appointment of
external auditors and review their independency and makes relevant
recommendations to the Board. The written terms of reference which
describes the authority and duties of the Audit Committee has been
prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for The Formation
of An Audit Committee” and “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and amended in accordance with the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2019, all the committee members were
independent non-executive Directors and one of whom possesses
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr.
He Jin Geng, is a qualified accountant and has the relevant financial
experience. Other members were Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen
Yang. None of the Audit Committee members were members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the interim and annual reports
of the Group and discussed with the external auditors on auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters.
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Attendance Record of Audit Committee Meetings (1 January 2019 BERZZESE®REHER® (ZZ—hF—
- 31 December 2019) A—RBZE=ZF-hAE+=A=+—8H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
R E HE =
Number of audit committee meetings BRXZEESEEAH 2
Members o=
Independent Non-executive Directors HUHNTES
HE Jin Geng (Chairman) ISk (£/) 2/2 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l 2/2 100%
CHEN Yang l59E3 2/2 100%
FEERREGRAT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2019, the Corporate Governance Committee
consisted of four members, namely Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong
Gao and Ms. Chen Yang, all being independent non-executive
Directors and Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, being an executive Director. Mr. Xu
Xiao Jun was the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, including
but not limited to, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making recommendations
to the Board, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and Senior Management
of the Company, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to the employees and the Directors of the Company, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee should be
primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Corporate Governance Committee meeting and ensure that
all members of the Corporate Governance Committee should have
sufficient information in a timely manner to enable effective discussion
at the Corporate Governance Committee meeting. The Chairman
should also brief all members on issues arising at each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Corporate Governance
Committee held one meeting during the financial year and the
attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meeting, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and Senior
Management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report
of this annual report.
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Attendance Record of Corporate Governance Committee Meetings ©GXERZEGERZ2HERE (ZZ2—H
(1 January 2019 — 31 December 2019) F—HA—HBEZZE-hFE+=ZA=+—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
R B =&
Number of corporate governance TEERZESTETRRHY
committee meetings 1
Members o=
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l = 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang 59E3 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) wME (F/E) 1/1 100%

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the audit fees and non-
audit fees payable/paid to the external auditors of the Group were
HK$1,000,000 (2018: HK$1,180,000) and nil (2018: nil) respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on payment of dividends. Provided that the Group has distributable
profits and without affecting the operations of the Group, the Company
may consider to declare and pay dividends to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”). In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, included but not limited to: (i) the general financial
condition of the Group; (ii) the expected working capital requirements
and debt level of the Group; (iii) the actual and future operations
and liquidity position; (iv) the expectations of the Shareholders and
investors and industry practices; (v) any restrictions on payment
of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders; (vi) the
general market conditions; and (vii) any other factors that the Board
deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The
Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed by the Board from time to
time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed
or declared in any particular amount for any specific period.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors aim to present the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors ensure the
publication of consolidated financial statements of the Group in
a timely manner that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the three months and two months limit respectively
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing
Rules.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the external auditors HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.
The Statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group established
and maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.
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The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address
and handle all the significant risks associated with the business of
the Group. The Board would perform annual review on any significant
change of the business environment and establish procedures to
respond to the risks resulted from significant change of business
environment. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with the
business of the Group by considering both internal and external
factors and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of the risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be applied
to each type of risks according to the assessment results. Type of risk
management strategy has been listed as follow:

— Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to
avoid the risk;

— Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or
allocate to different location or product or market; and

— Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the Group
and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk
management and internal control system are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has
engaged an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. There is no
significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control system
being identified by the external advisory firm for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2019,
the risk management and internal control system and procedures
of the Group, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
were reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2019, the company secretary of the Company, Mr.
Tso Ping Cheong Brian, fulfills the requirement under Rules 3.28 and
3.29 of the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
Mr. Tso has duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement and he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Article 57 of the articles of association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
the written requisition of any 2 or more members holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition in aggregate not less than 10 per
cent of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date
of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office. If
the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
such requisition proceed duly to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the
failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed
to them by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD ANY
SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES OR PROPOSALS TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or proposals to the
Board/Company Secretary by email: hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com,
by fax: (852) 2698 8188, or by mail to Suite 607, 6th Floor, Ocean
Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
corporate transparency and communications with the shareholders,
potential investors and investment community through its mandatory
interim and final reports. The Senior Management responsible
for investor relations holds meetings with press reporters and
potential strategic investors to keep them abreast of the Company’s
development.

During the year under review, an amended and restated articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) was adopted
by special resolution passed on 21 June 2019. An up to date version
of the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website. The shareholders may refer to the
Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders so that they can exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed basis. Besides regular distribution of financial
reports, the Company has a corporate website to foster effective
communications with the shareholders. It is maintained to disseminate
Company’s announcements and presentations, shareholders’
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information
on a timely basis.
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Another dialogue with shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
their views with the Board. The Company shall provide shareholders
with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

The Company held totally 1 general meeting during the financial year
and the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of General Meetings (1 January 2019 — 31
December 2019)
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General
Meeting held on
21 June 2019
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Executive Directors HITEF
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and WINE (LEFTHAEE) v
Chief Executive Officer)

YE De Chao EIt v/
JI Xu Dong ESIEES v

Independent Non-executive Directors BUIHITEE
HE Jin Geng Al BBk v
YU Hong Gao EIFAR=) v/
CHEN Yang BRI v/
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B B REARS

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report is
prepared with accordance to Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The Board has reviewed and approved the
report and is pleased to present our performance and progress on
environmental, social and governance areas for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The ESG report of the Group has been presented into two subject
areas, Environmental and Social and each subject area will have
various aspects to disclose the relevant policies and the status of
compliance with relevant laws and regulations as addressed by the
ESG Reporting Guide.

The Group understands the importance of ESG report and is
committed to making continuous improvements in corporate social
responsibility into our business in order to better meet the changing
needs of an advancing society. The ESG report of the Group will
present mainly policies, initiatives and performance. The following will
show the ESG issues that are found material for the Group and the
relation to the ESG Reporting Guide:

ESG Guide

RIE HERERMEES

A. Environmental

A B

A.1 Emissions
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A.2 Use of resources
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Relevant ESG issues to the Group
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Carbon dioxide emission and waste management
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Energy and water consumption
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ESG Guide

BRI - HERERREES

B. Social

B. #®

B.1 Employment

B.1 {Ef&

B.2 Health and safety

B2 RERZZE

B.3 Development and training
B.3 #/ENiEH

B.4 Labour standards

B.4 IR

B.5 Supply chain management
B.5 HERERE

B.6 Product responsibility
B.6 EmEE

B.7 Anti-corruption

B7 RES

B.8 Community investment

B.8 #HE®RE

THE GROUP

Relevant ESG issues to the Group
HEASBEMEEANERE HERELERE

Labour practices

BITER

Workplace health and safety
TESMERERZ S

Employee development and training
EEEEKEI

Child labour and forced labor

BT REHIST

Supplier management

HEmER

Product safety and quality
EmZezhEE

Anti-corruption and money laundering
RESRERE

Community involvement

2R

REE

The Group is primarily an investment holding company and its
investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural
gas business.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group has established environmental policies and has
communicated measurable environmental objectives to employees.
The Group actively encourages staffs to protect the environment
through training, education and communication.

The Group always keeps itself up-to-date on developments in local
legislation and standards for environmental protection. During the
reporting period, the Group did not experience any cases of non-
compliance relating to environmental laws and regulations in PRC
and Hong Kong.
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Emissions

The Group has conducted regular assessments on the air and
greenhouse gas emission, as well as the generation and disposal of
non-hazardous waste. Relevant departments are required to collect
and analyse relevant data and take specific measures to reduce
emissions.

Waste management

The waste management from the Group’s business activities mainly
consists of office paper during the reporting period. No hazardous
waste was produced by the Group during the Reporting period. The
Group has launched a number of waste management programme,
including:

° Recycling of paper materials, printing cartridges and batteries;

° To encourage staff to mitigate paper consumption by duplex-
sided printing and reusing paper printed on one side.

The Group is governed by, and has complied with, the Environmental
Protection of the People’s Republic of China Prevention {# % AR
HFBIREIREE). The Group does not generate significant air
emission or hazardous waste.

Greenhouse gas [“GHG"] emissions

The major source of carbon dioxide emissions is from the use of
energy. The Group has established various energy saving initiatives
to the carbon footprint.

Our greenhouse gases emissions are indirect, principally resulting
from electricity consumed at the Group’s workplace as well as from
business travel by employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the main sources of
the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions were derived from indirect
emission from purchased electricity (“Scope 2”) and other indirect
emissions from electricity used for processing water and business
travel (“Scope 3”). The total greenhouse gases emissions for the
Scope 2 and Scope 3 during the year ended 31 December 2019 were
about 46,872 kg and 4,722 kg, respectively. The emission intensity is
about 906 kg per million HKD revenue.
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Use of resources

Energy and water consumption

With the vision of helping to protect the planet and of incorporating
environmental sustainability into its business functions and processes,
the Group proactively seeks opportunities for increasing operating
efficiency in order to minimize the use of resources.

The resources used by the Group are principally attributed to
electricity and water consumed at its office. We would perform regular
assessments of use of resources.

The Group has adopted green office practices to reduce natural
resource consumption and the impact on the environment. For
instance, offices are equipped teleconference and internet-meeting
practices are encouraged to avoid unnecessary travel.

To achieve higher energy efficiency, the Group implemented the
following key initiatives during the Reporting Period:

o To switch off lights and air-conditioning in the meeting room and
computers at work stations where not in use;

° To select the best configuration for air-conditioning control
programme, based on in-door requirement and out-door
condition.

The total amount of use of energy of the Group was insubstantial
since all energy resources are consumed for the offices’ operation.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s total electricity
consumption and total water consumption were approximately 58,025 kWh
and 1,431 tonnes, respectively.

Environmental and natural resources

Measures in reducing environmental impact

The Group mainly involves in trading business and does not involve
in any business that has substantial impact on the environment or
involve in any significant consumption of natural resource.
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SOCIAL

The Group believes that one of the key aspects of its success
is the good relationship it maintains with employees. The Group
provides competitive employee benefits and comprehensive training
programmes in order to encourage employees to achieve their
potential and put their abilities to good use.

Employment

The Group provides a number of staff activities to enhance
employees’ sense of belonging and to help create a friendly working
environment.

The Group’s practices and policies with respect to:

° compensation and dismissal;
o recruitment and promotion;

° working hours;

° rest periods;

° equal opportunities;

° diversity;

o anti-discrimination; and

° welfare and other benefits,

which have complied with Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China {(fhEARZLMEILE%A), Labor Contract Law of People’s
Republic of China {(FZE AR L FMEI 4 84 [F7£) and other relevant
laws and regulations. During the year, the Group has no non-
compliance with the above law and regulations.

The Group also aims to promote the diversity of workforce, including
in terms of age, gender and nationality, as well as culture of equal
opportunity. The management would frequently review the Group’s
remuneration policy in relation to relevant market standards.

The Group’s employees work under a 40-hour standard per week
and it maintains a holiday policy and travel policy, as well as annual
vacation leave, compensation leave, maternity leave, personal leave
and sick leave.
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Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees have always been the Group’s
priority. The Group has established a set of policies which focused
on keeping a safe and healthy workplace, including the following
requirements:

° Relevant training and knowledge have been provided to
employees in respect to risks associated with the construction.

° The warning wording has been posted into the obvious area of the
construction site to emphasize the health and safety practice.

With respect to occupational safety management, the Group has
complied with all the corresponding local and Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China {1 A RH£MEI 5 E))%) of occupational
safety and health. Workplace is equipped with fire and safety
equipment to prevent outbreak of fire accident and the validity of the
fire facilities have been regularly checked.

Occupational health and safety statistics
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Development and Training

The Group has always believed that people development plays
the fundamental role in placing a solid ground for business growth.
The Group aims to regularly upgrade staffs’ professional skills and
knowledge, standards and integrated abilities. The Group also
motivates employees’ job enthusiasm and welcome challenges,
thereby creating greater corporate value and future development.

The Group has various training programmes, internal and external, to
fully develop its workforce. New employees are also provided with on-
boarding training to help faster adapt to the operations of the Group.
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Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour

It is always the Group’s policy to prohibit to employ any staffs who has
under the legal working age for protecting minors.

Insurance and work security packages:

Hong Kong

BB

Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) Medical Insurance
wEMAEE (BER) ERRR

Medical Insurance Unemployment Insurance
EERR KERR

Performance Bonus Work-related Injury Insurance
BBRAEAL TERER

Severance Payment/Long Service Payment Childbirth Insurance

BB RERES =B R
Maternity/Paternity Leave with Pay Hosing Accumulation Funds
BHER HER FEAES

Employment Compensation Insurance Health and Safety Endowment Insurance
BRI ERR T 2B EZRRE

B TRg

ETREHEZT

AEE-BERFEBELRABARBEETE
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Rbg & THERERRA -

The labour standards may vary in different jurisdictions that the
group has operated and the Group complies with the relevant labour
standards of Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hiE A RHMBELEARE) for the year ended 31 December 2019.
There is a strict recruitment procedure through Human Resource
Department and upon discovery of any child labour and use of forced
labour, the person will be dismissed immediately and the Board will
discuss and review the problem to prevent it from happening again.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, there is no labour dispute
between the company and its staff.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has business of trading of construction materials. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has carefully selected
its suppliers for providing the natural gas related products to ensure
the quality of the products. The Group has established policy to
maintain long term relationship with the major supplier.
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RIB - g RERMmE

Product Responsibility

The group complies with various PRC regulations relevant to the
operation the operation of its business in areas, such as health and
safety, advertising, privacy matter relating to its customers and
services.

To ensure the health and safety of patrons and employees of the
property in the construction and operation, the building of the Group
would be tested and repaired to ensure the property’s quality.

The Group strictly complies with the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China and requires related parties to do likewise in the
advertising contract.

The Group’s employees are obligated to retain in confidence any
and all information obtained in connection with their employment,
including, but not limited to, trade secrets, client information and other
proprietary information.

Anti-Corruption

The Group upholds a high standard of business integrity throughout
its operations. A system with good moral integrity and anti-corruption
mechanism is the cornerstone for the sustainable and healthy
development of the Group.

With compliance with relevant laws and regulations of Criminal law
of the People’s Republic of China {##E ARXFEAE) and the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China
2= ARKEMBRTIEEBF%), the Group also has policy to ensure
compliance with guideline on anti-money laundering and counter
terrorist financing. For the year ended 31 December 2019, such
events have never happened in the Group.

Community investment

The Group has contributed its part to build more environmentally
friendly energy infrastructure. The Group would also seek
opportunities to contribute to the social community in the coming
future.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. XU Xiao Jun, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, aged 41, has
been appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 2 August
2012. Mr. Xu has taken up the role as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Xu was appointed as
the Chairman of the Company on 31 July 2017. Mr. Xu is the executive
deputy general manager and legal representative of FRZ=MEE}
EE AR A7 (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*).
Mr. Xu served as the deputy general manager and the director of the
office of IR B FIZREHEMIZEHBRRAE (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate
Development Company Limited*) during the periods from 2002 to
2009 and from 2000 to 2002 respectively. Save as being a colleague
of Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive Director of the Company at FR
ZMAREFEAFR AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company
Limited*) and formerly at FAREFREHERMZEBR QA (Nanjing
Wanlilai Real Estate Development Company Limited*), Mr. Xu is not
connected with any other directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Xu is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. YE De Chao, aged 59, joined the Group as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 17 January 2012.
Mr. Ye was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company since 1
August 2012 and was then redesignated as the Acting Chairman of
the Company on 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has been appointed as the
Chairman of the Company on 28 February 2013. Mr. Ye has resigned
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company but continued to serve
as the Chairman of the Company effective from 9 March 2015. Mr.
Ye has resigned as the Chairman of the Company but continued to
serve as an executive director of the Company with effect from 31
July 2017. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of EREMARIBEARA
7] (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) which is an
associated company of the Company, and the chairman of FRE
FIREHERZE AR A A (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate Development
Company Limited*). Mr. Ye has over 20 years of experiences in
business operation and management. Mr. Ye was an electric engineer
of P ARKMBIHIBEA DEHE B REEKS BE NRME (Electric
Technology Department, Nanjing Railway Sub-administration,
Shanghai Railway Bureau, The Ministry of Railways of The People’s
Republic of China*). He obtained an undergraduate diploma from
Southeast University in July 1992 and an EMBA from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business, which is located in Beijing, the People’s
Republic of China, in September 2011. Mr. Ye is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Mr. JI Xu Dong, aged 55, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Ji has studied the
course in International Trade at Nanjing University. Mr. Ji has also
attended the International Financial Investment Programme of
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Ji is the director and general
manager of R g ELRIRmEEBR AR (Nanjing Vegetable and
Non-staple Food Group Company Limited*). He previously served
as vice general manager of RME B RmEEE AT (Nanjing
Vegetable and Non-staple Food Group*). Mr. Ji has obtained the
independent director authentication from the Shanghai National
Accounting Institute. Mr. Ji is a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, no executive Directors of the Company
have held any other directorships in listed public companies in
the last three years and none of them are connected with any
other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and any executive Director. There is no specific term in respect of
their respective appointment, but subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company. The executive Directors are not entitled to director’s
fee but will be entitled to discretionary bonus to be decided by the
Board based on their contributions, the Company’s annual business
performance and the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. Details of directors’ remuneration in 2019 are
set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng, aged 50, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. He
holds a Doctorate Degree in Politics and Economics from Nanjing
University. Mr. He currently serves as the general manager of F5R/
BEEIEAEIE AR AT (Nanjing South Hospital Medical Investment
Management Company Limited*). He previously served as a director
and president of R B Z[%{HH PR 2 A (Nanjing Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd*) and as secretary of ¥ T4& =PI @EZ (Youth League
of Liuao District of Sanmen County of Zhejiang Province*), and also
served different posts in ERINEREHERMGBR AR (Nanjing Xin
Gang High-Tech Co., Ltd*), including deputy director of the office,
secretary of the board of directors and deputy general manager.
Mr. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants.

Mr. YU Hong Gao, aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. Yu
graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology
and holds a Doctorate Degree. Mr. Yu previously served as
deputy general manager of the Department of Entrusted Assets
Management, general manager of Asset Management Department
and general manager of Securities Investment Department of #EZz
BEIMD AR AT (Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.*), deputy manager of
the Investment Department of JT# & B EE S F TR R E QR
(Jiangsu High-Tech Capital Venture Co., Ltd. of the Department of
Finance of Jiangsu Province*), deputy head of F{Z$R1TEI RO 1TH
FasZ1T (Chengxi Sub-branch of China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch*),
deputy general manager of Securities Investment Head Office and
general manager of Assets Management Head Office of {2255/
AR A A (Xin Tai Securities Co., Ltd.*).
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Ms. CHEN Yang, aged 46, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 September 2014. Ms.
Chen graduated from Southeast University and holds a master
degree. Ms. Chen currently serves as deputy general manager of
Nanjing Yulan Road Branch of Dongguan Securities Co., Ltd.* (5¢
AFAAREE R RIMER M5 % %50). She previously served as
sales director of Nanjing Hongwu South Road Branch of Dongxing
Securities Co., Ltd.* (B EHEFAR 15 F R A &) 5 7 AL E B B AE 5 32 56),
marketing manager of Nanjing Hanzhong Road Branch of Xiangcai
Securities Co., Ltd.* (HEIEAERRD AR AR A ER KA 2L % 56)
and customer relationship manager of Nanjing Pacific South Road
Branch of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (FIZRE LZiF AN AR
REIFERA T EEIEFE %)

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive Director
of the Company has held any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years or is otherwise connected with
any other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
There is no specific term in respect of their respective appointment,
but subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meetings of the Company. Mr. He, Mr. Yu and
Ms. Chen received director’s fee of HK$120,000, HK$120,000 and
HK$120,000, respectively, in 2019.

* The English translation of the Chinese name(s), where indicated, is
included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
the official English name(s) of such Chinese name(s).
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DIRECTORS" REPORT
EEEWE

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is primarily an investment holding company and its
investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural
gas businesses.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and the
probable future business development of the Group are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. A discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
financial key performance indicators is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. In addition, the environmental policies and performance,
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and the Group’s
relationship with its employees are disclosed in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Business Risks

The Group’s business risk factors include changes in the overall
market conditions, downward pressure on China’s economy and
change of government policies in China. The Board is responsible for
overall business management and review of major business decisions
involving disclosure of significant risks from time to time.

Financial Risks

The Group has adopted a series of financial risk management policies
to manage its liquidity risk, credit term allocation risk, financing
structure risk, interest rate risk and exchange rate risk. The Board
also reviews the Group’s management accounts, capital structure and
key operational data on a monthly basis.
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Compliance Risks

The Board takes effective measures to ensure compliance of the
Company with the laws, regulations and rules. The Company has
engaged professional consultants and advisors to keep the Company
updated on the latest changes in the regulatory environment,
including legal, financial, environmental and operational development.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers taken together accounted for
approximately 85% and 99% respectively of the Group’s total revenue
for the year.

The aggregate cost of sales attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 99% and 100% respectively of the Group’s total cost of
sales for the year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 170 of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 59 to 60 of this annual report.

The state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 61 to 62 of
this annual report.

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed shares during the year ended
31 December 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2019
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and has complied throughout the year with the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), except for the deviation of code provisions A.2.1 and
A4,

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ye De Chao

Mr. Ji Xu Dong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. He Jin Geng

Mr. Yu Hong Gao

Ms. Chen Yang
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In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Xu Xiao Jun and Mr. Ye De Chao shall retire from the
Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each non-executive Director is the period up
to his/her retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company'’s
articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service contract
with the Company or any member of the Group which is not expiring
or terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:

BIRARNE 2 ABERAB 25X - R/IME
FERERBREBNARRAGEITZM
RBFAS LREESRIE AAERILMR
BIEEEE -

BIRRTEZTZEHEERBARR 2 EE
ERAMRESRZASL -

EEZRBEN

MEEZERANRRSAKEEAKE QAR
BB SRR IR —F N E MR R E
TRAR—FRARMRE (BEEZBEIN)
TR L Z IRIEEH

EENTZZERERKR

—NWEF+ZA=+—H EEEAR
BEEITBRABRARR REEE LR (F
ERBHLHEERY ([FHRBEEG)

EXVER) 2 Btn RGN REHFFEE (a)
BEFHLRHAEGRIEXVHBETIRESS
BEMSARNBREBBERZHMERAF
(TBE2ZFT 1) 785 A ZZ GBI Frit & e it eh i s

Koxe (BIERERS KPR EBIK
NEEHEEEIERBEB 2 ERRAR)

% () IR IE 7 5 K HAE 1561 % 352 & A5 A
E§1H<WUEH1_ stz EmRARE ()R
B ETARRIMI S 10FT 8 E BT AZE S
TEHFR HFETABAAE AR R REERZ
Fiz s ORB T

hEERREERAT
—BhEEH

43



L

Directors’ Report

EFTWE

LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES OF
HK$0.05 EACH [“SHARES”) OF THE COMPANY

KRR 5] EH1E 0.05 8 T2
ZER ([R17]) 28

Number of Shares held

BREZRHEAE
% to the issued
Personal Corporate share capital of
Name of Director Interests Interests Total the Company
EELDH
EBRITRAE
EEnA EARER NEERE B Bt (%)
Mr. Ye De Chao E bt — 1,189,290,512  1,189,290,512 27.85
(Note)
(BfaE)
Mr. Ji Xu Dong TR AE 6,000 6,000 0.00014

Note: These Shares were held by Legendary Base International Limited, a
company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao. Hence, he was
deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associate corporation (within the meaning of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2008
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to enable the Group and its Invested Entities (any
entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest)
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or Invested Entities, to
recognise the contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of
the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding them with opportunities
to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to motivate and give
incentives to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the
long term success and prosperity of the Group or Invested Entities.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may invite any
Eligible Person including any director and employee of the Company
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years.
The Share Option Scheme expired on 11 July 2018. No new share
option scheme had been adopted by the Company as at the date of
this report.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2019, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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A s AY P
LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES REBIRZIFE
% to the issued
Number of  share capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares the Company
ER NG|
2RITRAK
RREHE BEEH ROEE B2 (%)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (Note 1) Interests of controlled 1,189,290,512 27.85
FRESIKEFGRETAR (FIFE1) corporation
AR LB R
China Construction Bank Corporation (Note 2) Interests of controlled 1,189,290,512 27.85
FEBIRIRTTIRM BR AR (MFE2) corporation
YR LB R
Legendary Base International Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,189,290,512 27.85
Legendary Base International Limited (Bf{3£3) EREAA
Expert Ever Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 383,956,000 8.99
Expert Ever Limited (Fi5E4) BE=BA
Zhang Xiaojun (Note 4) Interests of controlled 383,956,000 8.99

RBEE (HEE4)

Notes:

corporation
R EE kR

(4)

China Construction Bank Corporation was owned as to 57.26% by
Central Huijin Investment Ltd..

According to the disclosure of interest form filed by China Construction
Bank Corporation, China Construction Bank Corporation reported
interests because Prosper Talent Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation, was reported to
have direct interests in the Shares. So far as the Company was aware
of, Prosper Talent Limited was a person having a security interest in the
Shares under a share pledge.

Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De
Chao, who is a director of both the Company and Legendary Base
International Limited.

Expert Ever Limited was wholly-owned by Zhang Xiaojun.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no person (other

than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a

short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Group are set out on pages 35 to 38 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in notes 7 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited (“Keen
Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), Mr. Ye De Chao (an
Executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company),
Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi and Forward
Investment (PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”) had
entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
in relation to the subscription of 40% equity interests in Forward
Investment by Keen Gate (the “Subscription”) at a consideration
of HK$300 million (the “Consideration”). The Subscription was
completed on 10 December 2012. Pursuant to the Subscription
Agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao, Modern Admission Group Limited
and Mr. Lee Kai Choi (collectively, the “Guarantors”) jointly and
severally undertake to Keen Gate that the return to Keen Gate,
being the dividend receivable from the Group’s equity interests in
Forward Investment, shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration
per annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below such
threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate on a dollar-
for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in cash on or before 15
May of each calendar year.

EERENEEERERRE

AEBEELNSRERE Y BEFIBHNA
FREISE38HE o

EECZENER

BAREMBERRMETRR2AREZR S
Sh o RRE - HERA RSB A RS ERT
VEAARREERETERARERAEX
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Modern Admission Group Limited + Z=R{ A
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The Return Undertaking of approximately HK$36,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2018 was paid by the Guarantors on 15 May
2019. In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs”) of the Company, the Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations
under the guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, Forward Investment suffered
a loss and therefore would not be able to pay any dividends to
its shareholders, including Keen Gate. The Return Undertaking
for the year ended 31 December 2019 would be approximately
HK$36,000,000. The Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate the
amount of approximately HK$36,000,000 on or before 15 May 2020.

As at the date of this annual report, the Guarantors have not
yet fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by paying the
compensation of approximately HK$36,000,000 to Keen Gate.
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors shall
fulfill their obligations on or before 15 May 2020. The Directors of
the Company will closely monitor the status of the fulfilment of the
Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and will
disclose to the public as when the Guarantors have fulfilled their
obligations or when the Guarantors fail to fulfill their obligations on or
before 15 May 2020 by publication of an announcement.

The INEDs of the Company had been informed that Forward
Investment suffered a loss and would not be able to pay any
dividends to Keen Gate for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The INEDs of the Company will closely monitor the status of the
fulfilment of the Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return
Undertaking and will provide an opinion (the “INED Opinion”) on
whether the Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations under the
guarantee by compensating Keen Gate the amount of approximately
HK$36,000,000 on or before 15 May 2020 or not. The INED Opinion
will be disclosed in the Company’s next published annual report.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) presently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management and the Company’s
external auditors the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting process including the review of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

On 2 January 2020, Centurion ZD CPA Limited resigned as the
auditors of the Company. Crowe (HK) CPA Limited had been
appointed as the auditors of the Company with effect from 20 January
2020 to fill the casual vacancy. On 19 March 2020, Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited resigned as the auditors of the Company. The Audit
Committee recommended to appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited with effect from 19 March 2020 to fill the casual vacancy so
arising.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the
auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Xu Xiao Jun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 13 May 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

B A2 EN RS

B &t E a5 A R G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 169,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$30,074,000 and had operating cash outflows of approximately
HK$303,932,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. These
matters, along with other matters as set forth in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubts about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to
be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREREE
Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
B2 A M BEREMTE12 -

At 31 December 2019, the Group has investment
properties with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$59,227,000.
R-ZT-NF+-A=+—8
H{E#%59,227,0008 7T ©

BEEEREMEZK

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is
determined by adopting the valuation techniques with
significant unobservable inputs, assumptions of market
conditions and judgements. The Group also engaged
an independent qualified professional firm of valuers
to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
techniques.
EEEREMEZ A TEDNRBRHETNEEE 895
NRERTABREASE  mARKLAE - BE5EE
TN & BAR A ER B S 1EARY R EE S @
B770% -

Due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the
significant assumptions and judgements involved in the
valuation, valuation of investment properties is identified
as a key audit matter.

B EY KA T EABREZZ E ZRIRANEREBR
KA - EFBREMEGEEET RERERSEE -
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FRREREE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE
RENMEMLE

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
determination of the valuation of investment properties
included:

EEAHEEERERAMELEZERREFBE

e evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuers;

o FHAMEMMERE - e REFEIN

e assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts;

e BERMUMEBTENTHIERARMANEESR
K aHEPIEABEMEZRROEZ ML

e challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry; and

o MERMBERBMITRNTH HEREBRNESE
MIREER - &

e checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

o HHEIRE AT I A BUR A SERE I ELARRE I -

We found the management’s judgements and estimates
used in determining the fair value of investment properties
was supportable by available evidence.

EERR EREREVENRTFERMKANERRE
HER RS ERIRAJBIE I -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRELER

Impairment assessment on construction in progress
under property, plant and equipment

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
BLRERA S HREMEE13

At 31 December 2019, the Group has construction in
progress under property, plant and equipment with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$120,037,000.
RZZB-—NF+ZA=+—10 ' EBESEYX BEX
RfIE MERTIZZ BREEX) 120,037,000 & 7T °

The recoverable amount of construction in progress
is determined by reference to fair value less costs of
disposal. The fair value of the construction in progress
is determined by adopting the valuation techniques with
significant unobservable inputs, assumptions of market
conditions and judgements. The Group also engaged
an independent qualified professional firm of valuers
to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
techniques.

FER TRV AT U [Bl £ 78TO X P ER H & N AHETE © £
BIRBZATEDNERBARESEZETE 8PP RERT
AERBABE  mARKLHE - SEEITMERE
VEBRBEMEMART UL LKBEESENMGES
& e

No impairment loss was recongised in respect of
construction in progress during the year ended 31
December 2019.
BHE_ZT-NF+A=1T—"HILFE AEREELT
TRHERIRE R -

Due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the
significant assumptions and judgements involved in the
valuation, impairment assessment on construction in
progress under property, plant and equipment is identified
as a key audit matter.

BB ED R AT T ARIE = 2 T 2HRIA MERRR
KAE - EE8YE - BERREBETERIRZZRE
FHEHEE R EZEIR

FRREREE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEZERNMEERRERSE

¥ BERRFEETERIRZMENME

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on construction in progress under
property, plant and equipment included:
EEERERERYE BEARBETEEZIREZH
B EZIRF B

e evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuers;

o HHEKERMMER - e REEIL

e assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts

e WRERFMEMEBITENTHLERRMNGEESR
K AHEATEANTENEZERENEE ML

e challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry; and

o MEHRMERXBMITENTH HHEREBRRNSE
MIRHERE &

e checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

o HHEIRE AT I A BUR A SERE I ELARRE I -

We found the management’s judgements and estimates
used in impairment assessment of construction in
progress was supportable by available evidence.
EERR - ERIRABEHTERANEIEEH R
SRR A BB -

FEERREGRAT
—E-NEFER

53



54

Independent Auditors’ Report

BB RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

AREZER

Recoverability of carrying amounts of interests in
associates

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRHERE B mEMEET7

At 31 December 2019, the Group has interests in
associates with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$300,318,000.
RN_ZE-NF+_A=+—8H"
%= 2 ARTEIE 49 300,318,000 7T ©

BREERBEARZ

Interests in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associates, less
any impairment.

REE R R 2 R RN AR A MR R ASIR - I
REREHFARAER BEEEIHBMERRZERR
Hih 2wl -

The Group is required to assess whether there is any
indication that the carrying amounts of interests in
associates may be impaired at the end of the reporting
period. In this regard, no impairment of interests in
associates was considered to be necessary by the
management as at 31 December 2019.
EEEANMERRT RS ANRKPBENT] 2 #
mAREERGEERE - Bt E #E_T-NF+=
A=+—H ERERRIELEHNEL AR 2R
fEHIRE o

Due to the significance of the Group’s interests in
associates in the context of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, recoverability of carrying amounts of
interests in associates is identified as a key audit matter.
HR EEERBERTZERTE BEEEGSMBR
KTPEABEAER  BEFMARBERARZEENEREE
AU Bl RS AR R IE o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE

R D T 2 R 50 BV R E B 7] W =0 1

Our audit procedures in relation to the management'’s
impairment assessment on interests in associates
included:
EEEREEENARBERT Z RN ERIEN KD
M EZIZ B

e assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
accounting for interests in associates;
e MMHEBREHNBERRCERETENREZE

= C o

e understanding the management’s process for
identifying the existence of impairment indicators in
respect of the interests in associates; and

s THREEEWMTHFAENEERRZERSE B
BIEENBE &

e assessing the reasonableness of the recoverable
amount of the associates and obtaining an
understanding from the management of their financial
position and future prospects.

o FIAMERFAWESENSEN  WRERET
R H B BSAORMARRATR ©

We found the management’s assessment of the
recoverability of carrying amounts of interests in associates
was supportable by available evidence.

EERR BEEBHRBEARZERNEREEN KD
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018 were audited by another auditor who expressed a
qualified opinion on those statements on 29 March 2019.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the content of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuea)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuea)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 13 May 2020

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mreBEAR
For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z = FE— N F+=-A=+—HIL F/E

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
LiEs3 FET FAET
Revenue Wz 4 56,935 56,182
Cost of sales SHEMK A (55,030) (54,318)
Gross profit EF 1,905 1,864
Other income HbUg A 5 37,469 38,315
Loss arising on change in fair value WEWENTEEEESE
of investment properties it 12 (2,266) —
Share of results of associates FE(RE R N2 A 17 (10,276) (19,525)
General and administrative expenses —RE AT (34,058) (15,841)
(Loss)/profit from operations K (518) RF (7,226) 4,813
Finance costs B TSR AR 6(a) (23,414) (25,000)
Loss before taxation BrBiATES I8 6 (30,640) (20,187)
Income tax credit FriSTHIE R 9 566 —
Loss for the year FREER (30,074) (20,187)
Attributable to: FEAL
— Owners of the Company — AREEB A (28,909) (20,088)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERAR R AR (1,165) (99)
Loss for the year FREER (30,074) (20,187)
Loss per share (HK cents per share) &REE (SKREWL) 11
Basic EEWIN (0.68) cents 1l (0.47) cents L
Diluted e (0.68) cents il (0.47) centsll
FEERREERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reBm Nk HEAZEER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z = FE— N F+=-A=+—HIL F/E

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
LiEs3 FET FHT
Loss for the year FREE (30,074) (20,187)
Other comprehensive loss: Eﬂbéﬁﬁ?ﬁ :
ltems that may be reclassified to R E N
profit or loss TE@ZIE B
Net translation differences on HEGINETS 2 FEH
foreign operations ERFE (15,591) (37,700)
Share of other comprehensive FE(REE R A EA
income of associates 2EWE
— Exchange reserve — [ R 17 (5,862) (14,294)

Other comprehensive loss for the year, FREM2EEE @ HiE

net of tax (21,453) (51,994)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZEEEEAE (51,527) (72,181)
Attributable to: BEAE :

— Owners of the Company — AR EHE A (49,104) (69,029)

— Non-controlling interests — FEIEAR AR R (2,423) (3,152)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAZEEIBHALE (51,527) (72,181)

4=

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  Fi#5 2 Ml Bt F4RE MMz 2 —
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 December 2019 R—E—hE+_-H=1—H

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
BsE FExT FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment properties HEME 12 59,227 62,623
Property, plant and equipment e ] 13 120,064 122,349
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 2,578 —
Land use rights T {E A 15 = 1,774
Goodwill B 16 — —
Interests in associates REE R R 2 17 300,318 316,456
Prepayment TES IR 20 133,441 —
615,628 503,202
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade receivables FEIE HERR 19 18,112 775
Other receivables, deposits HALEUGRIA « e &k
and prepayment TEfSFRIA 20 393,653 86,445
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHE 21 2,024 553,114
413,789 640,334
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B SRR 22 (29,877) (13,153)
Accruals and other payables FEFT B R R EMER TR 23 (60,572) (31,013)
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 24 (125,000) (234,000)
Lease liabilities HEaE 25 (297) —
Tax payables FERTERIR (5,568) (5,654)
(221,314) (283,820)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 192,475 356,514
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 808,103 859,716
FEERREERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR R

At 31 December 2019 R—E—hE+—-H=41+—H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE
HERE
EREBARE

RATER ARG ERRBE

FERRRER

EEEE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

13 May 2020.

Xu Xiao Jun
E N 3
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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2019 2018

—E-hEF —N\F

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B eE FHET FET
25 (623) —
26 (7,369) (8,078)
(7,992) (8,078)

800,111 851,638

28(a) 213,496 213,496
518,880 567,984

732,376 781,480

67,735 70,158

800,111 851,638

R-E-_TFRAA+=-—RRESTSHEAR

RETIE -

Ye De Chao
¥EE

Director

EF

B 2 M S R F A M SRR 2 —
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Il‘/-.l—\ *E‘T><%E" Eb%

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &2 —

E-NFAFZA=F—HIUFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATREAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium (note 1) (note 2) reserve losses Total interests equity
ERGE EARDRE FER
i RHEE (HsE1) (Hi2) ERGE 2iTER a# hREs BRiAE
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fikn T Fikn T Tén T Tén T Thn
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\5-F-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 (7.337) (111,840) 850,509 73310 923,819
Exchange differences on BERINNBLRA
translation of financial HlRRL
statements of overseas EiER
subsidiaries - - - — (e — (e (3053 (37.700)
Share of other comprehensive ElbRERE
income of associates At2EkE - - - - (14,004) - (14,004) - (14,094)
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (20,088) (20,088) (99) (20,187)
Total comprehensive ERRENG/ (FR) B
income/(loss) for the year - — - — (48.941) (20,088) (69,029) (3,152) (72,181)
At 31 December 2018 REE-N\ETZA=1-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 (56,278) (131,928) 781,480 70,158 851,638
FEIEZREERAR

—E-NEER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
CARERBHE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATREAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium (note 1) (note 2) reserve losses Total interests equity
ERGE EARDRE 370
Bx RGEE (K1) (Hzk2) Eifie  ZiEE A% RRER  EREE
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THn Tin THn Tin TiEn FiEn TiEn Fin TiEn
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-F-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 (56,278) (131,928) 781,480 70,158 851,638
Exchange differences on BERINBLRA
iranslation of financial Rk
statements of overseas EiER
subsidiaies - - - - () - () (1258)  (15591)
Share of other comprehensive FElbBERm
income of associates Ath2EkE - - - - (5,862) - (5,862) - (5,862)
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (28,909) (28,009) (1,165) (30,074)
Total comprenensive ERRENG/ (FR) B
income/(loss) for the year - - - - (20,195) (28,909) (49,104) (2423) (51,527)
At31 December 2019 RB-NE+-A=1-8 23496 756,049 7 69 (BT (1608T) 732376 7% 8001
Notes: BisE -
1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive injection of 1. AEBEXNFEEENBARZMERZE
the registered capital of a subsidiary. BEE ©
2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares 2. BB O {#E 1 AR 9 K& M E R D 2

repurchased out of distributable profit.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

TERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &2 —

E-NFAFZA=F—HIUFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Amortisation and depreciation of
non-current assets
Interest income
Finance costs
Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Loss arising on change in fair value
of investment properties
Share of results of associates

Operating profit before changes
in working capital
Increase in trade and
other receivables, deposits
and prepayment
Increase/(decrease) in trade
and other payables

Net cash used in from
operating activities

2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B eE FExT FHETT
R
GRSz it (30,640) (20,187)
HTOIEL AEE
EMENEE
BERITE 148 101
FEMA (1,469) (2,067)
IR IDWN 23,414 25,000
HEME - BB REHE
2 Wi — (200)
EEZER 2,266 —
NI e 10,276 19,525
ReEgSBEA
ZARESER 3,995 22,172
FEWE 5 BRI
HibEWHIE « R Rk
TEfT FRIEILG N (329,622) (26,896)
FEFH B 5 BR R S H e fE A
I, GRd) 21,695 (8,579)
REEBMARSTE
(303,932) (13,303)
TEHERREERAT

“E-NFER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

an\ IE@/)ILE%E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
LiEs3 FET FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXHK
Interest received BUF B 1,469 2,067
Proceed from disposal of poperty, plant H &Y% - FiE
and equipment M ERABFT1SRIA — 200
Prepayment for investment property WEMERNE - BE
and property, plant and equipment FAETENRIA (135,315) —
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEK (FTR) EXE
investing activities ZIREFE (133,846) 2,267
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ME XK
Advance from/(repayment to) FTERREMNRES
substantial shareholder mEBREREERE 1,670 (1,316)
Repayment of secured loans BEBERER (109,000) (16,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (61) —
Interest paid ERFE — (25,000)
Net cash used in RE KA
financing activities ZIREFHE (107,391) (42,316)
Net decrease in cash and ReRRESEEY
cash equivalents WA FRE (545,169) (53,352)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4MEE R & F) ~ L2 (5,921) (30,454)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REYIZEE K
of year ReEEY 21 553,114 636,920
Cash and cash equivalents attheend REXRAZRERRESZEEY
of year 2,024 553,114

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated ~— MI#5 Z fist Bt Fir a6 BB HEz 2 —
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z = FE— N F+=-A=+—HIL F/E

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 June 1992 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office of
the Company in the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co.
Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, Cayman lIslands. The address of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is Suite 607, 6/F., Ocean Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha
Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s immediate holding
company is Legendary Base International Limited and the
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Ye De Chao, who is a director of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
“Group”) are described in note 18.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in the nearest thousand of HK$(HK$'000), unless
otherwise stated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A] STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (*“HKFRSs”), which is
a collective term that include all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CQ”). These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(B) BASIS OF PREPARATION (B) fREEE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for the investment
properties that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (since
1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 Leases (before application of
HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(B) BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(C]

For investment properties which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$30,074,000 and had operating cash outflows of
approximately HK$303,932,000 for the year ended
31 December 2019. In addition, the Group had interest-
bearing borrowing of approximately HK$125,000,000 and
related interest of approximately HK$23,400,000 which
was expired and carried the default interest on 20% per
annum.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEE5TBEX @

(Continued)
- g g A
[C] GOING CONCERN (continued) [C] FE&E &)
In view of such circumstances, which indicate the ERHBEBBERALKAFEIEE
existence of uncertainties that may cast doubt about M AIBEERE AR ERFELE
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the RENMERE B ARFESRD
directors of the Company have given careful consideration FIEE BARS EA AR E A
to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and FEUKAETTHORERIR - BA
its available sources of financing in assessing whether the A EERE BB RAVEE
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue IRETRELE - BERIETE
as a going concern. Certain measures have been taken to AR ESRB) MR ) - Wk EA
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the Group’s SEMPBARR - BEETERR
financial position which include, but are not limited to, the AR B -
following:
()  The Group will apply stringent cost control in () ANEEGHETHFAZMER
administrative expenses and capital expenditures. X H B TERAS R AN o
(i) A substantial shareholder of the Company has iy ARENETZRRERES
agreed to provide financial support for the continuing REBMFBECERMGH
operation of the Group. XHF o
(i) The Group is in active negotiation with the lender for (i) AEEIERES TS
the extension of the interest-bearing borrowings. B FGETTIEREER
(iv) Other operation plan to mitigate the liquidity (iv) BERE) R ERE 2T
problem. FTEl -
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(C]

(D)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

However, the appropriateness of the going concern basis
of accounting is dependent on the assumption that (i)
the management of the Group will be able to achieve its
plans and measures as described above; (ii) the Group
is able to obtain continuous external financial support
from substantial shareholder; (iii) the Group will be able
to improve its business operations; (iv) the Group is able
to successfully negotiate with the lender in relation to
the extension of interest-bearing borrowing and related
interest; and (v) the Group is able to generate sufficient
cash flow and implement exercises to control costs.
Should the going concern basis of accounting become
inappropriate, adjustments might have to be made to write
down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF
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A

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(D) SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Group, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed
any additional terms with the holders of those interests
which would result in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(D) SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

(E]

INTERESTS (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an interest in an associate
or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[E) INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) [E] B& L\ Gz ()

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group'’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(E]

(F]

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (cContinued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a goods or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(F] REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction on the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment to performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

2. FESFHBE @

(F] Wz tEaR (%)

Het

i fF & AT E i — IR % - RllY
BB R - MUARIZR

EEBEITHEBRNEINERE
S T i PRy FE AR AR,

oy

— REEBEEQR - BPRE
RS FEMAASEEELATIE
HEV RS

— AKENEHELSIEN—
HEE - MxABEENRANSE
BRI R Pl - 3

— AKENBOALRELSZR
SEEERAENEE B
REBEHIZS B EKENIRN

8RB T 2 B4 5T B0
7

*W*Wk?gﬁﬁ@ﬂ%ﬁ%
Sk AR 755 22 ] 0 B ) B R0

BHEERAKERIBAKE
EREPEBHNE fn sk R UE
RENBFRTER - ROBER
BB RS LERNF 9 FE
BAE - AR - EUGRIRIEAEE
WE B BRI R - BIAR(E
BB SRANE TR A RS

BHEEEASEAEREFIK
BARE (ke 2 BUERARA(E) -
MmARRFPEERMSRENE
Fo

HEA-AOMHEBZENEERS
HWRENFBREEARKLZS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(F] REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[F] REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) (F] Kzt (&)

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

Sales of construction materials

The Group sell construction materials directly to
customers.

Revenue from sales of construction materials are
recognised at a point in time when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to the specify location.

The normal credit term is up to 30 days upon delivery.
Property management fee income

Under the terms of the contract, property management
fee income is recognised as a performance obligation

satisfied over time. The property management fee income
are recognised throughout the respective contract period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[G) LEASING (G] HE

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

HENESR (RIBMEI A
ZBELZ P ERE B
HERE1655%)

& KRR EmiA TE—R
By T P42 1) P 8k 1) 8 S 68 PR RO 1
Mo AZAENBRIBEEHEE -

R ERER B #sk 2 18FTI 3k
Bk XA B 5| A& 49
mE - AEERERAMHRS
R 16T TE RN - 1B7]
AH= B B8 (RAEAEM
E)RIEZAORETENKER
HE - BRIFB KR IRR MR E
®BILBREH  TUAAESOKT
TEHE -

FEBERAEBEA (REME
Pl 2 BE L HE T B A&
M| ELERE1657K)

RHEEE
EREEENKARE

ipstEHERENSER

o RFtRAMZBIELME
A &R IR AL R 2 WA
EEE:

s AEEEAMNEMNVBER
PR+ R

o AEBERFHRNMITERBE
E - BRAEREEMESI
HEREBEEEZHENR
TR RGP TE B9 AR LB £
FTEERRA -

hEERREARAT
—E-NEER



80

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR I EE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

AN
N

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

{G} LEASING (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3)
(Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model, right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[G) LEASING (continued) (G] FHE (&)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 3)
(Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR I EE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

{G} LEASING (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (prior to 1 January 2019)

All leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessee under operating lease of
land use rights (prior to 1 January 2019)

Land use rights under operating lease, which mainly
comprised land use rights to be developed for investment
properties and self-use buildings, are stated at cost and
subsequently amortised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the operating lease periods, less
accumulated impairment provision.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(H) FOREIGN CURRENCIES (H) FME
In preparing the financial statements of each individual RERSENEBREE V%R
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the R AZERZNEEE AN
entity’s functional currency are recognised at the rates ZEBETIRGTIIERR S H
of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. B E R o RIREHR - B
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items INEEBECERIBEE DiRZAZ
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the EREHRE - UHINEEBEER
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried FEARZIEEKIER HIZEE
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are NEERHZEREHRE - &
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the 7|\ﬁ§ﬂ?fﬁ2$§+523|5§ﬁglﬁﬁ
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are BASEHNRE

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised BE¥IERCELERTELEH
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for 2B RER - T EEERE
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from FERTBIINETS c B IR E 2B
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is Z - MAMEHEIEEXTK
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part AlREHEE (.lﬁlﬁ%ﬁ@%%ﬁ?
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are KEZ—FD)  WHREMEE
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and Wz N )08 TR )SZE/\E%E%T’H@IE
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of BRtESENSEEER

the monetary items.

REERREARAT
—z-nEFm | 83



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(H) FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued) (H) ZME )

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(H) FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

(1

(J]

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

BORROWING COSTS

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(K] INCOME TAX (K] Frig#

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation
as reported in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(K] INCOME TAX (Continued) (K] FriZ# ()

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

[K} INCOME TAX (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(L) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (L) Y% - [BERRE

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less their
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(L) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (L) Y% - BERRE #)

(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

(M) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

IN] )% - [ RRIERE
HREEEZRE

(N] IMPAIRMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). The recoverable amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[0) PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT (0] BERFIAERE

LIABILITIES

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising
from past events that is not recognised because it is
not probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(P] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (P 2@ T A

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the statement of financial position when an entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(P] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (P] 2@ T A (#)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

— the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

— the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(P] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) [P] @ T A (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables,
other receivables, deposits and bank balances). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each
debtor individually based on the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group under the contract and the cashflows that
the Group expects to receive, with the consideration of
forward looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(P] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (P] 2@ T A (#)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[P) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) [P)] £ T A (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[P) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) [P)] £ T A (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default (Continued)

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:
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—  Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the —  BITANBRANERTK
borrower; or R sk

— A breach of contract, such as a default or past due — EREH (WENEHE
event; or ") 5k

—  The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or — ERANERAREBER
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s ABTEREE B E 41
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a B AERABEERAT
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise FRTERNESE X
consider; or

— It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter — ERABRERARKESH

A E A -

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(P] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (P] 2@ T A (#)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice when
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the correspondence adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[P) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) [P)] £ T A (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade payables,
accruals and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(P] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (Pl @ T A ()
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) B ERER (&)
Derecognition of financial liabilities ZEE BRI LR
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and EHEEARENEGRAER
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, BUBSaE - AERET &R
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the TRAE  RUIEERZERAR
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and MEEEREMRENNEZE
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit B B RER o
or loss.

ey

(Q] CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Q) B RELEFEY
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on RekReSENBRERITRES
hand, demand deposits with banks, and short term, highly HFBEHAL EE?TZ%/H\E?%(&
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known AIBRRENMBEAS ZNER
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant MBERE  MEFREZEE
risk of changes in value, having been within three months SHEREE  —RNEAR
of maturity at acquisition. =EAAENE -
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(R] RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a Group of which the other entity
is a member);

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(R] RELATED PARTIES (continued)

(S)

(b)  (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group or the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors of the Company.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the

HKICPA for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments
Amendments to Prepayment Features with
HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation
Amendments to Plan Amendment,
HKAS 19 Curtailment or Settlement
Amendments to Long-term Interests in
HKAS 28 Associates and
Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvement to

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs has had no material impact on the
results and financial position for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 LEASES

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time from 1
January 2019. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases, and the
related interpretations. HKFRS 16 requires a lessee to recognise
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases, except for
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term
leases”) and leases of low value assets (“low-value leases”).

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16,
the Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition
for leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these
leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial
application and comparative information has not been restated.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, application of
HKFRS 16 by the Group as a lessor has no material impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach and has therefore recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of
accumulated profits at 1 January 2019. Comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 17.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 LEASES (Continued)

Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, commitments under operating
leases for future periods were not recognised by the Group
as liabilities. Operating lease payments, including the cost of
acquiring or held under operating leases, were recognised in
profit or loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised the full
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as operating leases if they meet certain criteria set out
in HKFRS 16. These liabilities were subsequently measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be
determined, or the incremental borrowing rate of respective
entities. The difference between the present value and the total
remaining lease payments represents the cost of financing.
Such finance cost will be charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred using effective interest method. The Group
also applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. The Group further applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and low-value leases are recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (continueq)

HKFRS 16 LEASES (Continued)

At the inception of a contract that contains a lease component,
as a lessee, the Group should allocate the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone price. The Group, as a lessee, assessed
its leases for non-lease components and separated non-lease
components from lease components for certain classes of
assets if the non-lease components were material.

The associated right-of-use assets were measured at cost,
being the amount equal to the initial measurement of lease
liabilities, adjusted for items such as lease incentives received,
initial direct costs paid and expected restoration costs, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted
for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. Depreciation was
charged on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the asset’s
useful life and the lease term. The Group presents right-of-use
assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the
following practical expedients as permitted by HKFRS 16:

(i)  the election of not to apply the requirements of HKFRS 16
in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets to leases for which the remaining lease term
ends within 12 months from the date of initial application
of HKFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends on or before
31 December 2019; and

(i)  the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 LEASES (Continued)

s

\¢

%ﬁ%ﬂ&E%HZE

B ISR E 28] )

BB EREZERE 16 55
[FHE |

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the RZE-—NF—-—H—BNHEEREHRA
operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 is as RZFE-NF+ZA=+T—HHKE
follows: MERENERBENT
1 January
2019
—E-NF
-
HK$’000
FHET
Operating lease commitments RZZE-N\F+A=+—H
at 31 December 2018 R T E AR 282
Less: Commitments relating to R B EARE & R aR N AR AR
short-term leases and HE_Z—N&F
those leases with a remaining +-—A=+—H=k
lease term ending on or 2RI R E B RER AR
before 31 December 2019 (282)

Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 LEASES (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019
comprises the following:

é}‘ ﬁjﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ/\yﬁ 76 ;/l/

R-ZZE-NF-A-BNEREEE
FREEBREAT :

1 January
2019
—E-hEF
—HA—H
HK$’000
FHET
Right-of-use assets relating to EAfE A WS 4R
operating leases recognised upon FI6RERLCEHNE
application of HKFRS 16 B ERAEEE —
Reclassified from land e AR EF R (5
use rights (note) 1,774
1,774

Note: Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC were classified
as land use rights as at 31 December 2018. Upon application
of HKFRS 16, land use rights amounting to HK$1,774,000 were
reclassified to right-of-use assets.

fisx: HZTE—NAFt+=—A=+—8"
FPREE T ENRSEALT
MERE RERB AN R
HEBIFE165% 1% - LHb{E A&
1,774,000 8 TEEHN DB AER
BEE -

hEERREARAT
—E-NEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 LEASES (Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Eﬁ%%\é%ﬂZé
B EHREER w0

& B TR EERIE 16 %5
[HE |z

HEBE—ZTENF A BNEARY
BRAKRPERNSHEECHFEMNTH
o MABRRBAXEHTENER -

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts under
previously HKFRS16
reported as at at 1 January
31 December 2018  Adjustments 2019
R-EENE
—A—H
KRR REEE
—E-N\fF | E
+t=A=t-H BERIZE16 5
wENIREE Eiik HYARE(E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE — 1,774 1,774
Land use rights T b A 1,774 (1,774) —

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended
31 December 2019, movements in working capital have
been computed based on opening consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above.

There was no material impact to the Group on transition to
HKFRS 16 on accumulated losses as at 1 January 2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HFKRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material*
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

4. REVENUE 4. Wi
Disaggregation of revenue from contract with customers: DIFEP A MG

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiT
Revenue from major business services: T EEMIRE 2 Uk
Revenue within the scope of BB HREERIE 169
HKFRS 16/HKAS 17 BB I ERFE 17 5%
#E < Wam
Rental income from leasing of properties  #ZEMHE 2 & UA 1,100 1,055
Revenue from contracts with customers — Z B8] 3R & 2ERIE 15 5
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEZEFEAN
Property management fee income ESEE=J UGN 748 676
Sales of construction materials SHEEEME 55,087 54,451
56,935 56,182
Disaggregation by timing SRR
of revenue recognition:
At a point of time: P — R T
Sales of construction materials SHEBEM B 55,087 54,451
Over time: R —{ERFEER -
Property management fee income MEEBEWA 748 676
55,835 55,127

BEPARZBRBEFHTHNME2 -

Details of performance obligations for contracts with customers
are set out in Note 2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

5. OTHER INCOME 5. Higr A

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Interest income on bank deposit HRITERZ A EWA 1,469 2,067
Compensation income arising from EANERERATES
profit guarantee realisation 2 BEEWA 36,000 36,000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERE&E
equipment 2 W — 200
Other sundry income HALFETRRA — 48
37,469 38,315
6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6. BRBIAIEIE
Loss before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting): BREBRBEEHER, (GFA) TI&
15 :
(A] FINANCE COSTS (A] BIFERLAN

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2019 2018

—E-hE ZE-)N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FE T FiBT

Interest on interest-bearing borrowings  HEEE Z & 23,400 25,000
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZHE 14 —
23,414 25,000

FEERREERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

6. BRBLAIEE =
(B) Eft1EH

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(B] OTHER ITEMS

For the year ended
31 December

BE+=-RA=+—HLEE

2019 2018
—B-hF —T-N\%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FiET
Staff costs (including directors’ BIXA (BEESEMSE)
emoluments)
— salaries, wages and — &% TEREMER
other benefits 2,756 2,498
— retirement benefits scheme — RIREFIEH SR
contributions 387 194
Total staff costs B TR AR 3,143 2,692
Auditors’ remuneration ZE A & 1,000 1,180
Amortisation of land use rights {5 AR A 8 — 79
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {#RELEHE 129 —
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BEMEETE
and equipment 19 22
Loss arising on change in fair value &% &#E A FEES
of investment properties EEZEE 2,266 —
Cost of inventories sold BEFERA 54,690 53,914
Lease payments under short EEHESNHEENK
term leases 282 —
Operating lease charges G EHEE R
for premises — 420
Net exchange loss R E =V 87 243
Gross rental income from investment REREWEZ S
properties N L (1,100) (1,055)
Less: Direct operating expenses B FREERSWAZ
from investment properties WEME
that generated rental income 2 EERERX
during the year 340 403
(760) (652)
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are follows:

BEECHEREBETBERAIENE
383N IR AFA (HEEEFTER)
BOIE 2B 2B EWEMNT ¢

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
and benefits benefits
Directors’ in kind scheme
For the year ended fees He - HER RIKER Total
31 December 2019 EEHd BENMFR TR ast
BE-2-AF+=A=t-H HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
EEE THER TR T#x TEr
Executive directors BTES
Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and e
Chief Executive Officer) (LE#ETHEH) - = = =
Ye De Chao %Ed — — — —
Ji Xu Dong FMR — - - —
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
He Jin Geng BB 120 - - 120
Yu Hong Gao A=) 120 — — 120
Chen Yang BF 120 - - 120
360 — — 360
Total ast 360 — — 360
FEEZEREBRAT

—BhEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

» Bl = /= o
7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 7. EERESTHRAEM
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION T (&)
(Continued)
Salaries,  Contributions
allowances to retirement
and benefits benefits
Directors’ in kind scheme
For the year ended fees He - #ER RINEF Total
31 December 2018 ok W= BEGSA Ch
BE-T-\F+-A=1+—H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HFE TEL FEr FEr FEL
Executive directors HTES
Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and e
Chief Executive Officer) (FEFEITEAEH) — — — —
Ye De Chao ¥zt — — — —
Ji Xu Dong FMR — — — —
Independent non-executive directors B FHTES
He Jin Geng BB 120 — — 120
Yu Hong Gao BaE 120 — — 120
Chen Yang BF 120 — — 120
360 — — 360
Total &5t 360 — — 360

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group. None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

Except for those disclosed in material related party transactions
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of
the Company was a party and in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

8.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

The five individuals with the highest paid emoluments included
three directors (2018: three directors) whose emoluments are
disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect
of the other two (2018: two) individuals are as follows:

RE#FHAL

TfuZesHFALERE=2 (2N
FZR)EF EMESCRMETR
WEE - HBEMA (ZF—/\F : mA)
AL zBEEEmT

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

Salaries and other emoluments FeRHMME
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme ERREFIFTEI{L K

The two (2018: two) individuals are senior management that is
not a director of the Company and their emoluments are within
the following bands:

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET
1,939 1,423

36 30

1,975 1,453

WA (ZE—N\F:WE) ATHE
FARBEEZERAEREALS  BE
e EEWT :

Number of individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

For the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no
compensation paid for loss of office (2018: nil).

1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 78 7T 1 —

N
2019 2018

—s-nE —B—N\F

1 2

2 2

BHE-_Z—NWF+-_A=+—HIHF
€ - BEEFLBRB A E T FRIE (=
T—N\F )

hEERREARAT
—E-NEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

9. FRSBER

For the year ended
31 December
BE+t=-ZA=+—HILEE

2019 2018
—2-hE —2-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T Tt

Current tax BN ERBEIE
Deferred tax RS
Credit for the year (note 26) FrE e (FizE26)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax at 25% for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in, nor
deriving from Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profit arising in or derived from
PRC for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

PA=| L
9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 9. FTBHER @
A reconciliation of the income tax credit for the year to loss REFEFREHE R ERTAIEE 28
before taxation is as follow: BRaE -
For the year ended
31 December
BEt+t=-A=+—BLEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FiBT
Loss before taxation BRI AT EE (30,640) (20,187)
Tax calculated at domestic tax HEARE 16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2018:16.5%) —ZT— )\ 16.5%)
FHE 2 HHIE (5,056) (3,331)
Tax effect of share of results of JEMREE N EEE
associates g E 1,695 3,222
Tax effect of expenses not deductible E Y1553
for tax purpose IR 6,263 —
Tax effect of income not taxable BEFRBBA
for tax purpose 2GR (6,129) (5,973)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZ FIAKE 4,473 6,151
oy
Effect of different tax rates of REA B AR A/
subsidiaries operating in other jurisdiction B AR ETE & (1,812) (69)
Income tax credit FriSHiE e (566) —
FEEZEREBRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year
(2018: nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a
measure of segment profit. The segment profit represents the
result generated from each segment with allocation of (i) general
and administrative expenses, selling and distribution costs
under the heading of other corporate expenses; (ii) share of
results of associates; (iii) interest income; and (iv) compensation
income and other sundry income under the heading of other
operating income. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to reportable segments other than corporate assets.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the Group is currently organised into the following operating
segments and geographical areas:

(a) The properties investment segment engages in rental
income from investment properties in the PRC;

(b) Natural gas segment engages in sales of natural pipelined

gases and its construction materials in the PRC; and

(c) Investment holding segment engages in investment in
associates on a geographical basis of the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=-H=+—HIFZF

10. D EREE )

NTIRREBE_ZT-NFR-_ZT-N
FH_A=t—HILEFEARERKRE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2019

and 2018:

BBy 2 e M B2 A

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE-Z-NF+-A=+-HLEE

Properties Investment
investment  Natural gas holding  Unallocated Total
MERE AR REZR KAE am
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT THER THER THER THER
Segment revenue o 16
From external customers RENBRE 1,848 55,087 = = 56,935
Segment profit DEEA 1,507 398 - — 1,905
Interest income FISUA 1 1,468 — — 1,469
Other operating income, net HingB i\ F8 — — 36,000 — 36,000
Loss arising on change in REMENTEE
fair value of investment properties EEZER (2,266) — - — (2,266)
Share of results of associates [ERBERR 2 EE - — (10,276) — (10,276)
Other corporate expenses Hp Y (2,479) (20,062) (8,943) (2,574) (34,058)
(Loss)/profit from operations &g (BR) /%5 (3,237) (18,196) 16,781 (2,574) (7,226)
Finance costs BTARAR - — - (23,414) (23,414)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBiAT (B18) /%F (3,237) (18,196) 16,781 (25,988) (30,640)
Income tax credit FiEHEE 566 — — — 566
(Loss)/profit for the year Fh(B8) /&5 (2,671) (18,196) 16,781 (25,988) (30,074)
Other segment information Hit D HER
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (75) = = (54) (129)
Depreciation of property, plant and nE  BELRRENE
equipment (1) (8) — (10) (19)
Segment assets AHBE 192,231 498,210 337805 1,171 1,029,417
Segment liabilities DHEE 32,734 25,168 46,404 125,000 229,306
FEERREGRAT

—E-NEFER

121



122

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

10. D EREE )

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z-\FT_A=1+-HLEE

Properties Investment
investment  Natural gas holding  Unallocated Total
MERE KAR REER VA ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT T THT THET
Segment revenue 2B
From external customers REMNIRF 1,731 54,451 — — 56,182
Segment profit LT 1,327 537 — — 1,864
Interest income FBMA 2 2,065 — — 2,067
Other operating income, net Hip 2 ERAFE 48 — 36,000 200 36,248
Share of results of associates [l =N e — — (19,525) — (19,525)
Other corporate expenses Hip Y (1,586) (3,463) (8,708) (2,084) (15,841)
(Loss)/Profit from operations £e (FR) /857 (209) (861) 7,767 (1,884) 4,813
Finance costs BERA — — — (25,000) (25,000)
(Loss)/Profit before taxation BRBA (B18) aA (209) (861) 7,767 (26,884) (20,187)
Income tax FRiEH — — — — —
(Loss)/Profit for the year En(B8) /855 (209) (861) 7,767 (26,884) (20,187)
Other segment information HitHHER
Amortisation g (79) — — — (79)
Depreciation e (1) (8) (13) — (22)
Segment assets NEEE 198,912 591,497 352,963 164 1,143,536
Segment liabilities NHEE 33,721 6,884 17,293 234,000 291,898
Geographical segments W E 7 58

Since over 90% of the Group’s revenue and operating profit

were generated in the PRC for both years and over 90% of

the Group’s non-current assets were located in the PRC, no
geographical segment information in accordance with HKFRS 8

Operating Segments is presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continveq) 10. 2 BRE ¥ =)
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS TEEFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years EEFERERASBEBIEETE10%H
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as RKEBEFPHIBALT
follows:

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FiEIT
Customer A Natural gas business BEA  KAREK 48,182 46,070
Customer B Natural gas business BEB  RAREKR 6,905 8,381
Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% Br B FRE AN - A FE I mE
or more to the Group's total revenue for both years. EFAREELKATR10% A
J: o
11.LOSS PER SHARE M. 8REE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share KAAAE ANEBIESREARNEEE
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following BRI 78R E
data:
(A] BASIC LOSS PER SHARE (A) BIEELREIS
The calculation of basic loss per share amount is based on REREBEIIRERQ A
the net loss for the year of approximately HK$28,909,000 mEFEEABLOFRNEBEFE
(2018: HK$20,088,000) attributable to equity holders of the #)28,909,000 7t (—Z & — N\
Company, and weighted average of 4,269,910,510 (2018: £ : 20,088,000/ L) K A F
4,269,910,510) ordinary shares in issue during the year. NEZETEBERMNEFHH

4,269,910,510f% (= ZE— N\ F:
4,269,910,510%) & -

(B) DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE (B] HREEE 5
The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in REBEZZ-NAEFERZF—-N
issue during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. FH+—_A=F+—HIFE K&
The basis and diluted loss per share are the same for both B EIME BT BEEEsER
years. B% o FRES E e B AR AT R E

ERIGHER

EERREARAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. 1REWZE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
At 1 January n—A—H 62,623 65,439
Loss arising on change in fair value NHEEBEECBE (2,266) —
Exchange alignment I H (1,130) (2,816)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 59,227 62,623
Comprise of: BIE
Completed B®I 59,227 62,623
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all the investment properties R-_E—HhhER_ZE—NFE+_-A
are located and leased in the PRC held under medium-term =+t—H FTEEREWEANNTEH
lease. PR BRREFEAERE -
(A) VALUATION PROCESSES OF THE GROUP (A) XEEZ 14 EFREF

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value. The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
has been determined on the basis of valuation carried
out by Sino-Infinite Appraisal Limited (“Sino-Infinite”), an
independent and professionally qualified valuer.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the management work closely with Sino-Infinite to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The management reports the findings to the
directors at the end of each reporting period to explain
the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the investment
properties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

(B) VALUATION TECHNIQUES

(C]

Valuations were based on direct comparison approach,
which is adopted assuming sales of these properties in
its existing state with the benefit of vacant possession. By
making reference to sales transactions as available in the
relevant market, comparable properties in close proximity
have been selected and adjustments have been made to
account for the difference in factors such as location and
property size.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties is
their current use.

INFORMATION ABOUT FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENTS USING SIGNIFICANT
UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS (LEVEL 3)

12. REYZE »

(B] 1416754

HEDRAERLBORET - &
RZEMESBRANARE

E-KE2EEMMBMEER
5 EREBII R A E L RY)
X HAUERYEREZREN
ERFHAE -

AR REWMERZ X FHER &“ﬁ
MEZESMEERER/REE
PR e

(C) BEEHEZRT A&
FEWAER 1A FlE
B (F=ZR) WEX

Fair value
AT

Investment properties 2019 2018  Fairvalue  Valuation Significant

held by the Group = Sk —Z—/\F  hierarchy  techniques unobservable inputs Sensitivity

FEEARE HK$°000 HK$000  AFE EXTUBE

REN% TR TEL  E# HERE BARE YRE

Investment properties 59,227 62,623  Level3 Direct Market price from The higher market price,

— industrial building ) comparison RMB4,100/m? to the higher fair value,

approach RMB5,000/m? and vice versa

(2018: RMB4,600/m?

REME RMBS5,100/m?)

- I¥87 BB TEARETHK TEEE
AR¥4,1007Z AVHEER

BYHKARYS5,0007T R2ZTHA
(ZB-N\F : BYFX

ARB4600 TEETHK
AR#5,1007T)

hEERREARAT
—E-NEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

12. BEWZE @

188 T T 0 2 T 5 S S I
YRS AR T

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

No later than 1 year —FR
Later than 1 year and no later than —FERERFNA
5 years

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the investment
properties are all located in the PRC and have lease periods
less than 5 years (2018: 5 years).
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2019 2018
—E-NF —TN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TAET
384 1,319

409 761

793 2,080
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.¥1% - BMERRE

Furniture
Construction- Plantand  Leasehold Office Motor and
in-progress Pipelines Building ~ machinery improvements  equipment vehicles fixtures Total

RRIR EE Br HRREE RENRRE  BOERR fE  BARRE &3t
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEL T TEL T TEL TiEn TERL TEn TERL

Cost HA

At 1 January 2018 R=E-N\F-A-A 136,585 107 3435 4868 204 698 480 339 146,716
Disposal HE - - - - - - (4o7) - (407)
Exchange alignments EiAE (5,499) - - — - (6) - — (5,505)

At31December 2018and  RZE-N\ETZA=1-A
A

1 January 2019 RZ5-NE-A- 131,086 107 3435 4,868 204 692 73 339 140,804
Exchange alignments BT (2429) - - - - - - - (2.429)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+=B=1-A 128,657 107 3,435 4,868 204 692 73 339 138,375
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZiHTERAE

and impairment
At 1 January 2018 R=F-\5-A-A 8783 107 3435 4,868 178 653 480 339 18,843
Charge for the year TEEZH - - - - 13 9 - - 2
Disposal & - - - - - - (407) - (407)
Bxchange alignments S - - - - - ) - — )
At31 December 2018and ~ W=F-\F+ZA=1-A

1 January 2019 k=2-NE-A-H 8783 107 3435 4868 191 659 73 339 18,455
Charge for the year TEESH - - - - 13 6 - — 19
Bxchange alignments e (163) - - - - - - — (163)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-AEtZA=1-A 8,620 107 3,435 4,868 204 665 73 339 18,311
Carrying amounts BEE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AEtZB=1-A 120,037 - - - - 21 - - 120,064
At 31 December 2018 RZF-NETZR=1-H 122,303 — - - 13 33 - - 122,349

FEERREERAT

—zngEm 12/
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13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:

Pipelines 3'5%

Building 2 - 33'/3% or over the lease term,
if shorter

Plant and machinery 10 - 20%

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Office equipment 10 - 20%

Motor vehicles 10 - 20%

Furniture and fixtures 10 - 20%

The carrying value of land under construction-in-progress was
held under medium-term lease on the PRC.

Certain properties under construction were pledged to secure
a loan granted to an independent third party in the sum
of approximately HK$89,400,000 (2018: HK$91,088,000)
(equivalent to RMB80,000,000 (2018: RMB80,000,000)). The
carrying amount of the pledged properties were approximately
HK$119,962,000 (2018: HK$122,227,000) as at 31 December
2019. Further details are set out in note 31.

The Group performed impairment assessment on construction
in progress by determining its recoverable amount with
reference to fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value
of the construction in progress has been determined with
reference to valuation carried out by Sino-Infinite, which
used direct comparison approach. In this regard, the director
determined that the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying
amount of construction in progress and there was no impairment
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

13. % - BERRE @

EdWE - BEEREHEBRATF
KB REENE -

BB 31/3%
BF 2 - 331/,% IR HA
(LABRAG & A2%E)

= K i gs 10 - 20%

HEwERE RHEH
b N 10 - 20%
RE 10 - 20%

FRMREE 10 - 20%

ERTIRETZREEARTBZRF
HIHORE -

ATHERMERER  (EAET -85
3 5= 5 #8549 89,400,000/ 7L (=&
—/\fF : 91,088,000/87L) (HEERAR
#80,000,0007T (ZZ—\F : AR
80,000,0007T)) EFMER - RZF
—NF+ZA=1+—8  BEEWENE
B %) A 119,962,000 7T (ZZT—/\
F 122,227,000/ 7T) © # — HF1E
BHMIREST -

AEEBB2REZTENQFER
HE AR E E AT E & A TR E
Al - EETEMRFEDZSERIR
FEfT 2 hEMREE  ZHMERBEER
LB Bt s - EFR AT KE
cHRBBERTIEREE  BARER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=-H=+—HIFZF

14.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

14. FHEEE

Land use Leased
rights  properties Total
T it {5 A HEmE wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FH&TT
As at 1 January 2019 R=Z-NF—HA—H
Carrying amount FREE 1,774 — 1,774
Addition NE — 967 967
Depreciation charge nEBHA (75) (54) (129)
Exchange alignment IE 5 (34) — (34)
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hF+=ZA=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 1,665 913 2,578
For the year ended BE-Z—NE+=-A=+—8
31 December 2019 IEFE
Expenses relating to short-term AR HATE BB B ISR 5 AR B
leases and other lease terms end £ 1655 & X fEFE B HA#E 121
within 12 months of the date ARKIFZRBHEER
of initial application HiHEBHENER
of HKFRS 16 282
Total cash outflow for leases HERES R ERE (343)

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$920,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$913,000 at
31 December 2019. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

The Group leases offices for its operations with lease contracts
under fixed term of 3 years.

RSB E%920,000/87T © F &
A—TE-hE+-_A=+—HBHNEA
REEEH913,000/8 7T - HEBZEIL T
MENMBREHBAFMBEHEHEEETRMNE
RERAINNERNRZE - HEEET
SRERERR -

AEBBEETHAZTHREE A
EANAIFETFE -

FEERREGRAT
—E-NEFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

14.RIGHT-0F-USE ASSETS (continueq)

In addition, the Group owns several investment properties.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties are
presented separately only if the payments made can be
allocated reliably.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

14.FEREEE @

BHN AEBBEAE TREWME - K
SEAZEYFEEZ (BREABHEEL
i) MEREAA - RERGZENEE
7 AREDE RN 2 EHHIE -
BEX NIRRT SED K - %
FEEMENEEL A T EED
$ o

EREEERA MG A ERFRMMA
ERRFNBEERERERNE -

15. LAND USE RIGHTS 15. T Hh{F FARE

2018

—T-N\F

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 January n—H—H 1,935
Exchange alignment & H (82)
Amortisation #E (79)

At 31 December R+ZHA=+—H 1,774

Land use rights comprise cost of acquiring rights to use certain
land, which are principally located in the PRC, for investment
properties over fixed periods.

Upon application of HKFRS 16, the land use rights amounting to
HK$1,774,000 were reclassified to right-of-use assets (Note 14).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

16.GOODWILL 16. &2
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Cost AR
At 1 January and at 31 December R—A—BE+ZA=+—H 79,909 79,909
Accumulated impairment losses R EEE
At 1 January and at 31 December w—A—BEk+-_A=+—8H 79,909 79,909
Carrying amounts FREE
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H — —
Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount ERAREBE ZH - BENKREE
of goodwill was allocated to cash-generating unit under the ENRGEMERESHBTHNREESE
properties investment segment. BT o

EERREARAT
—2—nEEH 1]
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. R & DB 2 s

At 1 January Rn—H—H

Share of post-acquisition (loss)/profit of — FEAGHEE A RUEER
associates (E518) @7

Share of post-acquisition reserves of FEALEE = QR IB R
associates

At 31 December m+=—A=+—8

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s interests in
associates represent 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”) and its
subsidiary (together, the “Forward Investment Group”).

Details of Forward Investment are as follows:

(i) On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe the
approximately 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on
10 December 2012.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao,
an executive director of the Company and the original
beneficial owner of Forward Investment (collectively
referred to as the “Guarantors”) jointly and severally
guaranteed the dividend income distributed by Forward
Investment to the Group. The Guarantors will provide
compensation income to the Group if the dividend income
from Forward Investment is lower than HK$36,000,000
(12% of the consideration of the Subscription) per annum.
The guarantee will be valid from the completion date (10
December 2012) of the Subscription and up to the Group
ceases to be a shareholder of Forward Investment. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the compensation
income of HK$36,000,000 (2018: HK$36,000,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2019 2018
—F-hF =FN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
316,456 350,275
(10,276) (19,525)
(5,862) (14,294)
300,318 316,456

RZE—NERZZFE—NF+=A
=+—H AEERBEERRZER
BERZEMEE (FE) BRAR ([F
MEE]) REMBAR ([RMRESE
E]) Z 40% a#E -

T EFBOT ¢

iy RZZE——HFALA-F+tH &
RE—REEMNBRAREEEE
ERARFI N — D REHZE AR
BRMKE 2 4940% BaiE ([28
FH]) REFHEENR =T —=
F+ZA+HZEK -

BERERSE  AARWMITES
EEBEERTNREZRER
BBEAN (BBAIERAL #£E
MEREREMEERAEE D
EZAREUA o fHRFNZE R M
2 F[E R B UM A KR 36,000,000
BT (REFEREZ12%) © &
RARB MRS B REFERA -
ZERKBERBEETKAH
—E-—F+-A+RH)BEE
AEETHARMKERRIEH
MES  REBEZZE—NFt+=
A=+—HLFE #HEKA
36,000,000/ 7T (=& — )\ F :
36,000,000 T) ERErEEE
KPR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

(ii)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Forward
Investment Group is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements.

Forward Investment Group

(ii)

17. RBEE AR 2R @)

ERFNMRESENT AR
ZHEHINWAT - LT BEHEE
RNRIEE B S E £ L 475
RPN Sk N e

LEMEATIEE AT HERE
b A A (T R 2 BREE o

ZNREEH

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET
1,104,962 1,120,704
(354,168) (329,565)
750,794 791,139
300,318 316,456

Total assets BERE

Total liabilities BEMAE

Net assets BEFAE

Group’s share of net assets of associates ~ ZR£2[E fE(HEE S A F)
BEFE

Revenue &

Loss for the year FANEE

Group’s share of results of associates

ARG B G

Group’s share of reserves

N SE il deNCIE S

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET
7,130 4,807
(25,690) (48,813)
(10,276) (19,525)
(5,862) (14,294)
PEERREERAT

—z-ngEH 193
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17. R E R R 2 )

(i) At 31 December 2019 and 2018, details of the Group’s iy RZE2E—NEERZZTE—N\F+=
associates are as follow: A=+—8H XEEBE QAN
FEWT
Place of
incorporation and Attributable equity
principal place interest held
Name of operation by the Group Principal activities
MR LR rE@RE
A8 TEEEBE REZ LA TEEHR
2019 2018
Forward Investment (PRC) Hong Kong 40% 40% Investment holding
Company Limited 00 REER

FHRE (TE) BRAR

Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property The PRC 40% 40% Property development and
Company Limited* FE property investment
HRENMAREEERAA MERBERMERE
The Group performed impairment assessment on interests AEEBB2BRDERBERA
in associates by determining its recoverable amount RRFIRE REET IR E S5
with reference to the future cashflow from compensation HREE QR ERETRET
income guaranteed. In this regard, the director determined o BUME - EFRAAKOE
that the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying CRBANME AR ERREE
amount of interests in associates and there was no BRMERRE -

impairment recognised.
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= 32
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 18. AMIE A Bl 2 fE 4
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RZE-NEERZFT-NF+=H
Company as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are set out below. =+—H ARAEEXEEREN
M A RIEEIBAT -
Particulars of
issued and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ effective interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
BRARBHRE/ REERE
WELARER AR 2 ERBAGFE BRRE 2 ILA TEEH
2019 2018
Zg-1f “T-NE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE % B% %
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited The British US$1 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
Virgin Islands 5 RERR
(the “BVI")
RBRTES
(XBRXEB))
Honesty Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% —  Holding of
RERBERAR i 1T motor vehicles
BEAE
Honesty Treasure Limited Hong Kong HK$2 50% 50% 50% 50% Provision of
BERRERAT A 28T management
services
REERRS
Success Take Limited The BVI US$1 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
RBRAES B REAR
City Vision Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% — 100%  Investment holding
BRREERAT A 1AL RAZR
Ampleline Holdings Limited The BVI US$1 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
ABRAES 15T REAR
Sun On Chung King Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% — 100%  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited EiE 1T RE R
HzhR (B8) BRAR
FEEZREBRAR
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 18 A A Bl 2 #E %8 ()

Particulars of
issued and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ effective interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
BRAREHRE/ rEERE
WEARER MR ERBARFE 43 St TEXH
2019 2018
—8-1F =
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE % Bk il
Xinan Zhongjing Gas The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 90% — 90%  Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (i) HE AR%10,000,0007 construction
MERRARERAR (i) projects
AARERAE
Xinan Shengjie Gas The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100% — 100%  Natural gas
Company Limited" (note (v)) hE AR%30,000,0007C construction
MRERIMABRAG (W) projects
AARBRER
Keen Gate Developments Limited The BVI US§1 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
AERNES 1% REER
Nanjing Taihe Natural Gas The PRC RMB40,000,000 - 100% — 100%  Trading of
Accessory Engineering Company ~ H1E AR 40,000,000 construction
Limited* (note (ii)) materials
BRRMAARRNEIRERLA BEIHES
(s (i)
Gangning Investment Company The PRC RMB185,000,000 - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Limited* (note (i) AR 185,000,000 REAR
BEREERAT (R () il
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company  The PRC RMB109,984,948 - 51% — 51%  Property investment
Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua")* i AEH100,984948 7T NERA
(note (ii))
RREENRARLA
[REEE (3 (i)
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment  The PRC RMB4,886,027 - 60% — 60%  Property investment
Company Limited (‘Hui Li Yuan')* NEH 4886027 T MERE
(note (ii))
REENFDNREERAR
EAR (3 (i)
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly owned foreign
enterprise.

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise.

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as one person limited
liability enterprise.

* For identification purposes only

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

18. R B D B 2 B )

Mo

(i) RBEPEVEREMR/INEBEDLE -

(i) REFEPEDREIMAANEDRE -

(i) REFEREZEEMB-ABRELA
7o

EXAT %]

FRIMEZR/IBZFEAERE
BHAEENARRMBAR - EFR
A REEBHBARNFEEENR
RIRANTIE

RER - BEN B QR EITERER

2z s
A °©

hEERREERAT
—BhEEH
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 18 A A Bl 2 #E %8 ()

Details of a non wholly-owned subsidiary that has material BEEARFERBRREZNIEDEMN
non-controlling interest BARIMFEE
The table below shows details of a non wholly-owned subsidiary TRINTHEBERIFIERBR R ERD
of the Group that has material non-controlling interest: AEEF2ENBRRIMNGFS -
Proportion of
ownership
interest and
Place of voting power
incorporation held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of and place the Company non-controlling non-controlling
subsidiary of business 2019 and 2018 interest interest
Z2-nER
—E-N\E
KAAREN
WEAREH AL HEER
REFHE SR AREFERRFEZNER Rt F2RRRER
2019 2018 2019 2018
Z2-nF eyt —Z-hF gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TEL TER TAT
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics The PRC 51% (463) (5) 16,446 17,226
REEER #
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan The PRC 60% (690) (78) 50,347 52,007
REENR #
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interest
BRFERRRER 2
[ERISEEANBAR 942 925
67,735 70,158
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of a non wholly-owned subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interest (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

18. R B D B 2 B )

BREARFERRREZNEZER

BARNFE (&)

EBRASERAERNIFEBRBRE
MM BARNMBERBRZHNT
X ATHBENMBEEBARE

Current assets RBEE
Non-current assets EMENEE
Current liabilities MENEE
Non-current liabilities JEMBBE

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Non-controlling interests

Revenue g
Expenses FisZ
Loss attributable to KAREE AEREE

owners of the Company

Loss attributable to
non-controlling interest

Loss for the year

RATGA ARG

TR AR

NUNCIE S22 ) &8 5

FE1E 1R

FRER

NEMEHRTR 258 -
XECEY R
2019 2018
—EB-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
3,617 3,050
60,979 64,486
(23,655) (24,304)
(7,369) (8,078)
17,121 17,928
16,450 17,226
1,848 1,731
(2,792) (1,742)
(481) (6)
(463) (5)
(944) (11)
TEERREERAR

—E-NEER
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material

non-controlling interest (Continued)

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics (Continued)

18. R B D B 2 B )

BREARFERRREZNEZER

BARNFE (&)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to
owners of the Company

Total comprehensive loss attributable to
the non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing
activities

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net cash outflow

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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EN/NCIE DN

2 EREH
FEIEAR A SR A R A
EHEERERE
FAZEEREER
RERMIRSRAFE

BRERSAEERE
O /RAFHR

MERPAERSRLFE

BREmHFER

XEC-EY T (&)

2019 2018

—E-hF ZZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

(807) (812)

(776) (780)
(1,583) (1,592)
(1,582) (1,591)
(1,582) (1,591)
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interest (Continued)

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan

18. R B A B 2 %= )

Current assets MENEE

Non-current assets EMBEE

Current liabilities nRBBE

Non-current liabilities FERBEE

Equity attributable to owners of the RRABEE ANEEER
Company

Non-controlling interests IR AR R

Revenue Was

Expenses FZ

Loss attributable to NAREE AEIEEE

owners of the Company

Loss attributable to RNATIEER IR e
non-controlling interests FEIEEE
Loss for the year FAEE

BEEAFERBRREZNFZEN
BATNFE (&)
KEELF
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET
7671 9,147
33,335 33,964
(1,709) (1,339)
23,578 25,063
15,719 16,709
(1,725) (197)
(1,035) (119)
(690) (78)
(1,725) (197)
TEHREZREARLT

—z-naegy 4]
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material

non-controlling interest (Continued)

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan (Continued)

18. R B N B 2 )

BEEAFEZERRRESNIFEZEN
BARMEE (&)

Total comprehensive loss attributable
to owners of the Company

Total comprehensive loss attributable
to the non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing

activities

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net cash outflow

EAN/NCIE DN
EHEEIRAERE
FEER A R ER PR A
EHEEIRAERE
FAZEEEREER
RERMIRSRAFRE

BRERSEERE
Omd) mAFHE

BERBAFRERHFE

REmhiFa

Except for Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics and Tianjin Hui Li Yuan,
the directors consider that the non-controlling interests of the
other non wholly-owned subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 were insignificant to the Group
and thus are not separately presented in these consolidated
financial statements. In addition, no separate financial

information of other non wholly-owned subsidiaries is required

to be presented.

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

XEEDR (&)

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

(1,485) (1,246)

(990) (831)

(2,475) (2,077)

(4) (2,030)
(4) (2,030)

EERRBREREDRRKEZED
RO R IEREMBRARREE—
E-NERFT-N\FT_A=1+—
BIEFEZFERRRESHAEE
MEMIRE  RELBEZSTHEEH
BHRERDEFZ7 - H BFZ275
HiF2 EMB R RN EBUBER -

19. B E 5 BRFX

Trade receivables, gross
Less: Impairment loss recognised in
respect of trade receivables

Trade receivables, net
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FEWE Z AR R 4R
B BLIE R B RRK
HERZBEER

FE B 7 B S BR

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
18,112 775
18,112 775
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The Group generally allowed an average credit period due

within 30 days to its trade debtors.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

19. EIRE Z R )

AEBE—RABEESERETFH

S0 KHIZEH] -

ZER B B % A R A AR

[}
oA °

FEWE 5 RN BRER DATIAT

Due within 30 days or on demand
Due within 31 to 60 days

Due within 61 to 90 days

Due over 90 days

30 HAZ|HAg IR &k
31 BZE60 BNEIE
61 HZE 90 A WEIH
81590 HEHA

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set

out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

20.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

2019 2018
—s-nE —EN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR AT
18,112 666

= 109

18,112 775

FEWE 5 BRZURBE T G FBE AR
B I EHRRMIFEI0 ©

20. Hti R FRIE - IRER

x=h
PREPAYMENT FRAFRIE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
MEE THET FBT
Deposits e i 123 35,161
Prepayments T s i 479,464 2,932
Other receivables H b PR KRIR 11,507 12,352
Compensation income receivable FEYH B WA ii 36,000 36,000
527,094 86,445
Analysed for reporting DITERE R -
purpose as:
Current assets MENVEE 393,653 86,445
Non-current assets EMENEE 133,441 —
527,094 86,445
FEEZREBRAT

“B-NEER
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20.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(i) At 31 December 2018, deposit of approximately HK$34,158,000
(equivalent to RMB30,000,000) was pledged as security for the
loan facilities as set out in note 24. The deposit was released
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

(i)~ The amount represented prepaid construction cost of investment
properties and property, plant and equipment and trade
deposit paid for construction materials.

(iii) ~ The amount represented compensation income from Guarantors,
details of which has been set out in note 17.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and

deposits are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

21.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

20 M EWRRIE - BER
FEATFIE ()

it

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

RZZE—NFE+-_A=+—H0 &
£ #734,158,000/8 7T) (HHE AR
30,000,0007T) BRERERRME 2
BIRRERHI T4 - HERBE-T
—NF+ZA=+—HIEFEER-

ZERARENEEME - BERER
TR IRIE R A IA R AR A R X
NHE SRS

ZERERAERANMBERA - &
RRRTIB RN HIEE 17 ©

H & WK SRR (E RT il O RIS BN AR
BB HMARMEI0

21. R & RIBITHER

Cash and cash equivalents RekBFEEHED
Notes:

(i) At 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents placed
with banks in the PRC amounted to HK$817,000 (2018:
HK$553,016,000). Remittance of funds out of mainland China is
subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

(i)~ Bank balances earn interests at floating rate and fixed rate, and
are placed and deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.
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2019 2018
—F-hF =T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000

TR TET

2,024 553,114

(ii)

RZE—NF+_A=+—8" 71
ERFEMNEBITHRERESEE
¥) /817,000 L (= F — A\ F -
553,016,0007&7T) » BB E L
K& & 7838 7 P B BT 78 5 ) N E B
HIF MR R AR Al BOE AR

RITRBRITB MEENERTE - &
R EA IR Qi B A B EEN
RIT -
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22.TRADE PAYABLES

Ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:

22. BV E 5 IR
R ESER BR AT

2019 2018
—B-hF —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET

Due within 30 days or on demand 30 HRE|Hiskiz Esk
Due within 31 to 60 days 31 HE 60 BRI HY
Due within 61 to 90 days 61 BZE 90 HEIER
Due over 90 days B3R 90 B 21| A

The average credit period granted by Suppliers is 30 days.

23. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

29,877 13,153

29,877 13,153

HERRTHFHEEHR/I30A -

Z&E*Eﬁ&EM@N%

Receipt in advance TR R IE
Accruals and other payables FEFT B R R EAEFRIA

Amount due to substantial shareholder R b L]

Receipt in advance represented non-refundable rental payment
received from tenants during the year.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, amount due to substantial
shareholder was unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no
fixed terms of repayments.

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FAET
324 349
47,044 19,130
13,204 11,534
60,572 31,013

JEMR IR IR F AT P U Z TR R
Bl -

RZE—NFRER-_FTE—N\F+=A8
—+—H BENEZERBREZEES
EIEA - R B REEFEEHE -

hEERREARAT
—E-NEER
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24.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

24. 5t BB E

2019 2018
—B—nE —T\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T THT

Borrowings, secured BE - A

125,000 234,000

2019 2018
—B-hF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TAET

Scheduled repayment terms of secured B EER(EEIEFKN

borrowings contain a repayment on BEMEERETEIER
demand clause (shown under (RREBETIITR) :

current liabilities):

— Within one year ——FR

— In more than one year but not — BA—FET
more than two years EBBRE

— In more than two years but not — BEmFEES
more than five years HBARF

Less: On demand or amount due within 3 : IRESKIE B R E
one year shown under current BEMR—F

liabilities AEHR 5

Amount shown under non-current liabilities JER BB EFTRHI S5

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the borrowings were supported
by pledged shares of related companies, pledged deposit and
personal guarantee by a director of the Company.

At 31 December 2019, the secured borrowings are interest
bearing at 10% (2018: 10%) per annum.

At 31 December 2019, none of the covenants relating to drawn
down facilities had been breached (2018: none).

The interest-bearing borrowing was expired during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and carried the default interest on
20% per annum. The Group is negotiating extension agreement
with the lender.
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Hj

125,000 234,000
125,000 234,000
(125,000) (234,000)

R-ZE—NEFER-_ZET—N\F+_A
=+—H BEARCEFREBIRZ
B R EBERARF 2 —RES
REOBEABRESS -

RZZE—hFE+-_A=+—8" ' G
FREERENERI0%(ZZF— )\ F :
10%) 5T 8. °

RZBE-NF+ZA=+—08 " #&
BRRDBEZRHEEER (=%
—N\EFE)

Al

HEBEREBEE-_ZTE-NF+A
=t —RIEFERBE - WIEFEREK
0%t ERZOME - AEBELHERE
JTIERE S o
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=
25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HERE
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
RIEHEE SR
BEHEELR KR E
2019 2019
—E-NF —EB-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FExT
Lease liabilities payable: FEREEEE
Within one year —&R 368 297
In the second to fifth year, inclusive E_ZNF (BEEEMF) 675 623
1,043 920
Less: Future finance costs W AR R TSR A (123) —
Present value of leases liabilities HEBEMNRE 920 920
Less: Amount due for settlement within B —FREIEBEENSE
one year (297)
Amount due for settlement after one year —FEF|HEENSHE 623
All lease liabilities are denominated in HKS$. SEHEBEABITEHE -
26.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26. RIEFIBE B
Investment
properties
REYHE
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F—A—H 8,441
Exchange alignment b A (363)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE—\F+ZA=1+—H
at 1 January 2019 Mk=—F—hF—H—H 8078
Credit to profit or loss (note 9) tAEE (M13E9) (566)
Exchange alignment fE R (143)
At 31 December 2019 R=B-NF+=ZA=+—-H 7,369
FEERREERAT
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26.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

At 31 December 2019, the Group had unused estimated tax
losses of approximately HK$37,614,000 (2018: HK$19,722,000)
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. The unused

estimated tax losses could be carried forward indefinitely

except for the tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately
HK$17,892,000 (2018: nil) that will expire in five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

27.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Schemes at
a rate ranging from 5% of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees
which are calculated based on a certain percentage of the
basic payroll.
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26, EIEFIBEE @

RZE—-—NF+ZA=+—8"
AEENASAMGFHEEED
37,614,000 7T ( = & — )\ &F:
19,722,000/ JT) A f 4K 5 AR 2K & &R
BamAl o RE) A HIBEEAER
HifEeE  MEPBREEMNRIEEEDY
17,892,000 7L (ZF—/\F : &) k&
A HEEIE R F R EIHA K AT 88 R 2Kk
FERRBL R A o B A R AE TBRI R 2K % A
o Bt W E s R IS IEEREER
REE o

27. B ERKEF

(a) AEBREEERFIMEAEST
ENEDI AR BB RBIED 2 8%
EEETIEAZEES  KE—
B EAESEE ([RESE
Bl - B EFTEI VBB X
ANBRB 2 REHRFENRETE - 1R
BERESTE - EXRHEEES
B AR E B AW A Z5%RET
EEH M - FAMEBERKRA LR
730,000 7T 5T 8| RENR 55
%o

(b) MRIFEF BB TRAKER
REE 2 b R T BT RS
82 FE HFUR KR B 5T 8l
(T%F&HED) - it - AEREZA
BEEREEH S Z5%E L
KRAZFTEFL K - T K
FHEEEZMENTRINER
ZERRSEME  ERELXFHEZ
ETANHEE -
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 28. RA K f#4E
(A] SHARE CAPITAL (A] JRAK
Number of shares Nominal value
RAEE EiE

2019 2018
“E-hF Pt
HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FAT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each  &P&TI(E0.05/8 T
2Lk 10,000,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Ordinary shares: EER
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
At 1 January and R—A—BAk
at 31 December +-—A=+—H 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
(B) DIVIDEND (B] R Z
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary RZZE-NFEIERARRF]E
shareholders of the Company during 2019, nor has any AR R IRESEIRERE -
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting B S B ARARITRIKERE
period (2018: nil). (ZE—N\F &)
FEERREERAT
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28.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continueq)

(C] CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
within the Group will be able to continue as a going

concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of its debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from

prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consist of net debt,

which includes interest-bearing borrowings and lease
liabilities net of cash and bank balances, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued

share capital and reserves of the Group.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were

as follows:

28. BRA R f#4 =

[C] EXEH

AEBEZERNEIE S EEERASE

EETEERAE

riE A EcER g s
KmegamE AFRES[E
B ARBEEBBEFE 2R

T o

AEBZERARBREABEFR
(HBRmEMERAR e MRITHER

BAEBEREE

&) kA

REEBANELED (BFEAE
Bz EBITRA N

RZE-NFRZF-N\E+=
A=t—RZAELEMT :

Interest-bearing borrowings
Lease liabilities

Total debts
Less: cash and cash equivalents

Net debt

Total equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Net debt to equity ratio
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HEEE
HERE

BEAE
B Re RIREFED

BEFH

ROFFER AR
A

BEFHEAEERLER

2019 2018
—B-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET
125,000 234,000
920 —
125,920 234,000
(2,024) (553,114)
123,896 (319,114)
732,376 781,480
16.9% N/A &R
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29.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(A] STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

29. KN E 2 EMRR TR
B

(A) K2\ 5] 2RIk I 7

NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE

Interests in subsidiaries SGIEYNGIPA: 25

CURRENT ASSETS MENEE

Other receivables, deposits and H At fEY A
prepayment e RIBNFRIE

Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHEH

CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE

Trade and other payables JERTE SRR R B Ath

e 3R

Interest-bearing borrowing

sHBfEH

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBaEFHE
NET ASSETS BESFE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B #E
Share capital (&N
Reserves R

TOTAL EQUITY FEREE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 13 May 2020:

Xu Xiao Jun

wE

Director

=%

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET

798,498 914,381
498 494

990 13

1,488 507
(45,924) (16,814)
(125,000) (234,000)
(170,924) (250,814)
(169,436) (250,307)
629,062 664,074
213,496 213,496
415,566 450,578
629,062 664,074

R-ZE-_ZEFRAT=-BRESTSH
JEXD TRAETIE -

Ye De Chao
EEE

Director

5=

hEERREARAT
—E-NEER
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AN
N

29.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(B] MOVEMENTS OF THE RESERVES OF THE

29. RN B Z MR RT K

&)

(B] AL Atz

COMPANY
Capital
redemption
Share Share reserve Accumulated
capital premium EXER losses Total
R R4 RE e BB R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL THL THEL THL THL
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F—HA—H 213,496 756,049 69 (270,026) 699,588
Loss for the year FAEE — — — (35,514) (35,514)
At 31 December 2018and  M=Z—\&E+-A=1+—H
at 1 January 2019 R=F-NF-F—H 213,496 756,049 69 (305,540) 664,074
Loss for the year FABE — — — (35,012) (35,012)
At 31 December 2019 R-Z-NF+-A=1+—H 213,49 756,049 69 (340,552) 629,062

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
represent the share premium and accumulated losses.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, share
premium of the Company is available for the Company’s
distributions to shareholders subject to the provisions of
the Company’s Memorandum or Articles of Associations
and provided that immediately following the distribution
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2019, the
aggregate value of the share premium and accumulated
losses of the Company available for distribution is
HK$415,497,000 (2018: HK$450,509,000).

Note: Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
shares repurchased out of distributable profit.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30.£RT A

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade AEENZZemITABRERKES
receivables, other receivables and deposits, cash and bank AR bW RIERES RER
balances, trade payables, accruals and other payables (exclude ﬁETT wEer - BNESER . B EAR
receipt in advance), interest-bearing borrowings and lease FMEMEMNFIE (TEEEWEKIE)
liabilities, and were classified into the categories as follows: AEEBEREEAE  WHBAT
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets SREE
Amortised cost BEHAOR 67,766 637,402
Financial liabilities SRIBE
Amortised cost e S IDN 216,045 277,817
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective ZESBMT A ZHFBRALGRE R
notes to these consolidated financial statements. The risks REBZHFRHE - BZESRT
associated with these financial instruments are limited and Bz RERAR - mbEEZERR
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. JHRENTX - EEEBTERER
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ZERK - DAREORE R A B B e
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and HE TR °

effective manner.

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and rEEZEE  R9Ee IEXRE
currency risks that arise in the normal course of the Group’s BRBRIDRAEE  —REBHBESD
business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising EX - AEETHEERSERROE
from movements in its own equity share price. 1B #E - mAEYRERR
There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure rEBEAeMT Az ARBERKHE
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it ERREEMEERR 2T EER
manages and measures the risks. 2E o

FEERREGRAT
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AN
A

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[A) CREDIT RISK

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivable, other receivables and deposits and bank
balances. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within a year. Debtors
with balances that are more than a year past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from its customers.

In addition, management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions for
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts on
trade receivables. The Group applies simplified approach
on trade receivable to provide for ECL. In this regard,
management of the Group considers that the credit risk on
trade receivables is significantly low and no provision for
expected credit loss was recognised for both years.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30.£RMTH =

(A) EERERE #)

(A] CREDIT RISK (Continued)

In respect of other receivables and deposits, management
of the Group makes periodic as individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management of the Group believes that
there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding balance of other receivables and deposits.

In respect of bank balances, the Group limits its exposure
to credit risk by transacting with approved and reputable
banks with high credit ratings. Bankruptcy or insolvency
of these banks may cause the Group’s rights with respect
to these assets held to be delayed or limited. The Group
monitors the credit ratings of these banks on an ongoing
basis, and considers that the Group’s exposure to credit
risk at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were minimal.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking

MEMBEURIBRIEEME @ K
SEEREERBATAEERE
BAKBLAIERFS B KA E
AiTBE 14 & R B R TR AR
® 2 A Y Bl 14 3 17 E B ME Rl 5T
fhe AEBERBERANEEZ
H At RS IE&HZ%Z* EJ&Z*
BRI EEXE G EER

PIRTTRERRM S - AREEEHE
wiE BRI ZHAARER
AR Z SRATHETT R BRI B EAE
ERE O o ZFRIT ZWER
BEBENXSEHAEERZ
EMRHEEZEMNERERKR
B e REEEREERZFRT
ZEEFH  XB/AEER
E-NER_F-NE+-A
=t—BZEERBREN -

RAMEERBE (T RERA

account of any collateral held is represented by the BEAm) DIESESREER
carrying amount of each financial asset after deducting R ERER 2 BREE o
any impairment allowance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(B] LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 30. €T E »)
N 2za A
(B) LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) [B) BEIE T/ ()

Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
undiscounted 1 year or on less than
Carrying cash flows demand 2 years
amount HERFERE —FR% —FHULER
HREE REERE REX BEMF
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
THER THER THER TR

At 31 December 2019 RZB-NF+ZA=t-8H
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 125,000 137,500 137,500 -
Trade payables BT E SERT 29,877 29,877 29,877 —
Accruals and other payables [EEtE AR A ENTUR 47044 47,044 47044 =

Amounts due to substantial BN FERFEFHE

shareholder 13,204 13,204 13,204 —
Lease liabilities HEak 920 1,043 368 675
216,045 228,668 227993 675
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
undiscounted 1yearoron less than
Carrying cash flows demand 2 years
amount MERMRAE —FR  —FUEEF
FEE MERE REK HBmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FET

At 31 December 2018 R-E-NE+-A=1+—H
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEREE 234,000 257,400 257,400 —
Trade payables ERESER 13,153 13,153 13,153 —
Accruals and other payables [ B A R H AT FUR 19,479 19,479 19,479 —

Amounts due to substantial ENEERFFE

shareholder 11,534 11,534 11,534 —
278,166 301,566 301,566 —
FEEZREBRAR

—E-NEER

157



158

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(C]

(D)

(E]

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate interest-bearing borrowings (note 24)
and lease liabilities (note 25). The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances (note 21). The Group cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rates on bank balances. The Group currently dose not
have interest rate hedging policy.

No sensitivity analysis for variable-rate bank balances are
presented as the directors of the Company consider that
the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

CURRENCY RISK

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC with
majority of the transactions being settled in HK$ and RMB.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which
are denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency of the Group.

The transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in RMB are minimal, the Group considers
there is no significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arises.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT OTHER THAN
FAIR VALUE

The carrying amounts of the group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised costs were not materially
different from their fair values at 31 December 2019 and
2018.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=-H=+—HIFZF

31.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 1 August 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity interest
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan of which principal asset is a land use
right for a parcel of land. Starting from year 2015, Tianjin Hui
Li Yuan entered into a financial guarantee contract with a PRC
trust company (the “Lender”) to provide corporate guarantee
by a pledge of certain properties to secure a loan granted
to a business partner which is an independent third party
(the “Borrower”) in the sum of approximately HK$89,400,000
(2018: HK$91,088,000) (equivalent to RMB80,000,000 (2018:
RMB80,000,000)) (the “Loan”). In order to protect the interest of
the Group against the loss which might be suffered by the Group
under the guarantee, the Borrower and the non-controlling
interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan entered into a counter indemnity
in favour of the Group pursuant to which they agreed to,
among other matters, indemnify the Group for its liabilities and
loss which may arise from the guarantee. The non-controlling
interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan also agreed to indemnify the
Group by offering a pledge of its 40% equity interest in Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan to the Group upon default in loan payments by
the Borrower. At the end of the reporting period, the Loan
drawn down by the Borrower amounted HK$89,400,000
(2018: HK$91,088,000) (equivalent to RMB80,000,000 (2018:
RMB80,000,000)) and market value of the properties pledged
was approximately HK$120,690,000) (2018: HK$129,800,000)
(equivalent to RMB108,000,000 (2018: RMB114,000,000)) which
was determined by Sino Infinite. The carrying amount of the
pledged properties was approximately HK$119,962,000 (2018:
HK$122,227,000) as at 31 December 2019. The Loan was due
on 11 February 2019 and remains unsettled as at 31 December
2019. To the managements’ best understanding, the Borrower
is in active negotiation with the Lender for the extension of the
Loan but no agreement was concluded up to the date of this
report.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
nil).

3. BAREE

RZZE—tFNA—RB ~EEKRE
KEENRZ60%EHE EFEH
ER—RIMHLHERE - BT
*ﬂﬁi ’ %/i/@j]/ﬁgﬁiq] !1EE
Al ([EBRD fI LU BERE LR
ﬁi EER FRNAERERETY
XRR—RBEBBH (BULE=R)
([Mf& R A #& i 5 5£89,400,000 %
JL (ZZF—)\4F : #791,088,000/% 7T)
(& » A R % 80,000,007t (=F
— \4F : A R #80,000,0007t)) £
ER BRERXEEZFZ  2EZ
ERMZBASBEZEL  BRAK
RIEE R & IE1E AR A% R A 7 A AR
%lﬁxﬁn/\a—fi—f’ﬁ&mgﬁmﬁ &
CHERE (KRR BELRSE
ll%%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ‘f PEEZBERIE
Ko REBENRZIFERB I
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HE A K IEE 1R 40% B RE R IK 38 1B
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& 589,400,000 L (ZFE— N
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¥80,000,0007T (ZZE—NF: AR
#80,000,0007T)) MHEFIRETEZE
K 18 W) 3 2 T {8 49 120,690,000 % 7T
(ZZ— \# : 129,800,000 7T) (48
BN ARE108,000,0007T (ZF— N\
F: AR 114,000,0007T)) ° B
MER—_ZT—NF+A=+—HZ
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2 —F—1F+=HA=+—HIFEZF

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following material transactions

and balances with its related parties for the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018:

(a)

(c)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited
(“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group),
Mr. Ye De Chao (the Chairman, an Executive Director
and a substantial shareholder of the Company — a
connected person), Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr.
Lee Kai Choi and Forward Investment had entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
in relation to the subscription of 40% equity interests in
Forward Investment by Keen Gate at a consideration of
HK$300,000,000 (the “Consideration”). The Subscription
was completed on 10 December 2012. The transaction
constituted a major and connected transaction of the
Company. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the
Guarantors jointly and severally undertake to Keen Gate
that the return to Keen Gate, being the dividend receivable
from the Group’s equity interest in Forward Investment,
shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration per
annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below
such threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate the
Subscriber on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the “Return
Undertaking”) in cash.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, as
Forward Investment suffered loss and no dividend will be
declared, the Return Undertaking would be exercised. As
such, an amount of HK$36,000,000 was credited in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group
comprises amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 7 and those highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 8 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Amounts due to substantial shareholder amounted to
approximately HK$13,203,000 (2018: HK$11,534,000).
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32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 2.EXKBFEALRS @
TRANSACT'ONS (Continued)
The interest-bearing borrowing was secured by pledged shares TEBEUEREEBEIERESH
of related companies, in which Mr. Ye De Chao is the director, A AR ERER - WHRSEEBL
and personal guaranteed by Mr. Ye De Chao. A TRMEAELR o

33.0PERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 33. REHEANE

AS LESSEE TERAFAN
The Group had total outstanding commitments for future AEBEREBEMETATHHEHLEHORN
minimum lease payable under non-cancellable operating leases TH BBz RERBEREEN
in respect of properties, which fall due as follows: MHEREBREIT -
2018
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHET
No later than 1 year —FR 282
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years —FBRERFNK —
282
The Group has no contingent rentals and sub-lease payments BE-_Z—-)\F+ZA=+—HLF
received for the years ended 31 December 2018. = $’E B E KB E AR R
DR o
34.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34. EAREKIE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following REREBR  NEBLTEFHER
commitments which were contracted but not provided for: STHE BB Ay AIE -
2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHET
Capital expenditures for investment properties WEMENEARRS 44,644
Capital expenditures for construction-in-progress under #1% - BE N REE T
property, plant and equipment FRIEMNERMS 88,797
133,441
FEERREERAT
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35.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

(A] KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 2, management has made
the following judgements that have a significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

discussed below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
often requires the use of judgement to select specific
accounting methods and policies from several acceptable
alternatives. Estimates and judgements used in preparing
the consolidated financial statements are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
followings are the more significant assumptions and
estimates, as well as the accounting policies and methods
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN

APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(i) Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

For trade receivables (excluding non-financial
assets), the Group applies the simplified approach
to provide credit losses as prescribed by HKFRS
9, which requires the use of the lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables (excluding
non-financial assets). The loss allowance for
financial assets are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Management
reassesses the provision at each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E— N F1+_-A=+—HILFZ

35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

The Group’s property, plant and equipment
represent a significant portion of the Group’s total
assets. Changes in industry conditions may cause
the estimated period of use or the value of these
assets to change. Long-lived assets including
property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment at least annually or whenever events or
changes in circumstances have indicated that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset, which requires
significant judgement relating to the level of revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of revenue and operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iii) Current income taxes

(iv)

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
are subject to the Enterprise Income Tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax in the period
in which such determination is made.

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar lease and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, the Group
determines the amount within a range of reasonable
fair value estimates. In making its judgement,
the Group considers information from a variety of
sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature, condition or location (or
subject to different leases or other contracts),
with adjustments to reflect those differences;
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iv) Estimate of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

recent prices of similar properties in less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the
date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and

discounted cash flow projections based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows derived
from the terms of any existing lease and other
contracts and (where possible) from external
evidence such as current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and
condition, using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

If information on current or recent prices of
investment properties is not available, the fair

values of investment properties are determined
using discounted cash flow valuation techniques.
The Group uses assumptions that are mainly based

on market conditions existing at the end of each

reporting period.
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 35. FEHEET R HE =
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN [B] [EH AR EEZHFIF

APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iv) Estimate of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

The principal assumptions underlying management’s
estimate of fair value are those relating to: the receipt
of contractual rentals; expected future market
rentals; void periods; maintenance requirements;
and appropriate discount rates. These valuations
are regularly compared to actual market yield, and
actual transactions of the Group and those reported
by the market.

The expected future market rentals are determined
on the basis of current market rentals for similar
properties in the same location and condition.
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=]

36.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.

36. &t
2%

B2Eg

BFEAENEE

NRFIASE l%ﬁﬁiﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁ’]ﬁ
BRRE MR
@ﬁ/ﬁ@ﬁﬁ?imﬁﬁ EIE'\‘:E/MLEE.
FARARREREBRGEERERER
DHERMELTHAELZHESRE °

P =
S-S

Amount
due to
substantial Interest-
Interest shareholders Lease bearing
payable REEE liabilities  borrowings Total
ERFIR BREHE HERE FEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET TET FET
At 1 January 2018 RZZ2-\F—-A—-H — 12,850 — 250,000 262,850
Financing cash flows HEHRENE (25,000) (1,316) — (16,000) (42,316)
Interest expenses FERAZ 25,000 — — — 25,000
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\&+ZA=+—H
and at 1 January 2019 “E-N1F—-F—H — 11,534 — 234,000 245,534
Financing cash flows REHRENRE — 1,670 (61) (109,000) (107,391)
Addition of new lease EhEHeE — — 967 — 967
Interest expenses FIERAZ 23,400 — 14 — 23,414
At 31 December 2019 R=B-nF+=A=+-H 23,400 13,204 920 125,000 162,524
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 {2 —E—NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

37.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 37.FEFBRERF

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered HE-_Z—NF+-A=T—HILH
into new lease agreements of office for 3 years. On the B ASETZAHIFHHEER
lease commencement, the Group recognised approximately ZmoNMEERBE  AEBEBRALD
HK$967,000 of lease liability and right-of-use asset of the same 967,000 BT HEBERAZFEE L
amount. EREEE -
38.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 38. HigE1EH
Since early 2020, the pandemic of Coronavirus Disease 2019 BEZTTFYUR - FRERRES
(the “COVID-19 Outbreak”) has spread across China, and it has R EE (FEMEEE]D £&
affected business and economic activities to some extent. As at B HEGRKBEEBELET —TE
the date of this report, the impacts of the COVID-19 Outbreak FE BEAREHE  FEMARE
on the Group’s customers’ and suppliers’ financial positions and BEHAREREEP KRR 2 MBIRR
the macro-economic conditions as a whole are still uncertain, N EURERERBENERTE RN
the Group is unable to quantify the related financial effects. TEARR - AEEEEELIR@ET B
The Group will pay close attention to the development of the 2 KAEESBETIEIFTML
COVID-19 Outbreak, perform further assessment of its impact FIEMERIBN - BULEITE—FH
and take relevant measures. ETANEET - WEREAB RE FE 1R e o
39. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 39. LR YT
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform ETHBREFEETHE UKFE
to the current year’s presentation. FERZEY o
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. rEEERZ_ZE—NEF—HA—B¥H
Under the transition methods, comparative information is not JERABEUBMEERFE 165 - BIE
restated. WEE - AR RE

40. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 40. HU BRSBTS Rk

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and REMBHRERZZT_EFAAT=
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 13 May 2020. RESEESHERRERM o

EERREARAT
—z—naEg 107
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFUHREE

hY I V'3 i
RESULTS E 45
For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-BLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
N —T\F —Ftf B _T-1F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAx TET FAT FET FHEL
Revenue e 56,935 56,182 26,144 15,691 22,133
(Loss)/profit attributable to ADAER AES
owners of the Company (B18) /7 (28,909) (20,088) (44,700) (5,507) 5,249
Dividends e - — — — —
Basic (loss)/earnings per share  SIER (58) /BF (0.68) centsfli  (0.47) centsfll  (1.05) centsfll  (0.13)centsfll  0.12 cents/L
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SR (E518) /27 N/ATEH N/ATER N/A T NATE N/ATEF
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
R+=A=+—-AH
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
v —F\F —FtfF  —F-Rf —T-1F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAx TET FET TET FEL
Total assets BERE 1,029,417 1,143,536 1,243,833 1,407,610 1,116,476
Total liabilities BERSE (229,306) (291,898) (320,014) (601,888) (228,752)
Net assets EEFE 800,111 851,638 923,819 805,722 887,724
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GROUP PROPERTIES
EJEEYES

At 31 December 2019 R—E—hE+_-H=1—H

Category of
lease term

BRI FHER

Location Intended use
NE BRERZ

Total gross
floor area
BEEEE
(sg. m.)
(FFHXK)

Group’s
interest
rEEZERE
(%)

Properties held for investment $SER &Y%

No. 34 Di Ba Da Jie,
Development Area,
Tianjin City,

the PRC

ey

RET

(=
)\ KE 3458

Industrial premises for rental Medium

FHERGRZ TERYE A

Huijinxintiandi Plaza,
No. 11 Shengtai Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,

Commercial premises for rental Long

FHERZ  BEME =3

Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

i

TERAE

MRmLER
PREEHT BB ARS 11 5%
ER R ES

Properties under development 3% & 3%

Industrial premises for rental Medium

EHERGZ s TEME R

East of Haining Street,

and north of Haichuan Street,
Tianjin Development Zone,
Tianjin City,

the PRC

a3

RET

REMER

BEAR 84

Approximately
#911,512.07

Approximately
#)53,759.48

Approximately
#929,012.72

51

40

60
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Group Properties

EEYES

At 31 December 2019 R —FE—hF+-H=+—H

Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of BRI interest
Location Intended use lease term (sq. m.) REME
B BERR HYOFHE R (FFI7K) (%)
Properties held for sale #{EH &%
Rooms 810 and 1706 in Block 8 of Residential/Commercial premises  Long Approximately 40
Huijinjiulong Commercial Street, FE EEDE = Hf 47116.67
No. 699 Chengxin,
Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
I
TERE
MRTTEE
PRBE AT E A8 699 5%
ETNERXEESE
810 X 1706 &
Rooms 101 to 104 in Block 47 Residential/Commercial premises  Long Approximately 40
and Rooms 101 to 104 in EE EEYE R #)1,710.89

Block 48 of Hongjingya Villa,
No. 2888 Hongjing Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

T

ARy

AR IER

B AT B AR KE
28885k s R IEE

EATE101 E104 =
RE481E 101 2104 E
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